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Thulisile Dladla  Chairperson, Liswati
Independent, non-executive

Ms Dladla is the Chairperson of SBC and is a Member of 
the Eswatini Parliament. She has extensive experience 
in administration and is Chairperson of the Oversight 
Committee in the Eswatini Parliament known as the Public 
Accounts Committee. She has Bachelors degrees from 
the Universities of Botswana and Eswatini , as well as a 
Masters degree from the University of St Marys in Halifax, 
Canada. She was the CEO of the Sebenta National Institute 
from 1998 to 2008.

Mduduzi Dlamini  Liswati
Independent, non-executive 

Mr Dlamini is the Chief Executive Officer of the Eswatini 
National Housing Board. He has extensive experience 
in urban planning and property management having 
worked as a town planner for the Eswatini Government as 
well as property manager for the Royal Swaziland Sugar 
Corporation and the Eswatini National Provident Fund. He 
managed the merger of the Mhlume, Simunye and Tshaneni 
Property departments into the RSSC Property Services 
division and has led the restructuring and transformation 
of the Eswatini Housing Board.

S’thofeni Mfanasibili Ginindza  Liswati
Non-executive 

Mr Ginindza holds a Bachelors degree in Economics and 
Statistics from the University of Eswatini. He further holds 
a Masters degree in Economics from the University of 
Ottawa, Canada. He has worked as an Economist for the 
Eswatini Bank and was attached briefly with the World 
Bank in Canada (1994). He joined African Alliance Eswatini 
in 1996. He is a Partner and Executive Director of African 
Alliance Group and has held a number of leadership 
positions including Chairman of the Eswatini Electricity 
Company, founding member of the Eswatini Revenue 
Authority, Director of Swazi Empowerment Limited and 
Chairman of The Observer.

Sean O’Sullivan  United Kingdom
Executive Director 

Mr O’Sullivan has spent most of his career in financial 
services and related industries. Prior to joining the Group 
in April 2010, he was head of sales and marketing at First 
National Bank’s home loans division for three years, 
responsible for the development and management of the 
retail mortgage lending book and the affordable housing 
sector in South Africa. Before joining First National Bank, 
he pursued his own interests, serving as CEO of Iquad 
Treasury Ltd for 15 years. Iquad is a risk management 
company with specific focus on both interest rate and 
currency management for large national and multi-
national corporates. As part of his exit plan he listed Iquad 
on the JSE in 2006.

General Outlook:

Eswatini’s payroll market is mature, but with steady, 
inflationary growth still expected. Lesana on the 
other hand aims to achieve a market share of 25% 
or more in the payroll segment in 2025. As part of 
its 2025 strategy, the Group intends to significantly 
expand its range of higher-yielding short-term 
products throughout Eswatini and Lesotho. This 
initiative aims to complement the existing product 
offerings and leverage this segment of the market to 
enhance the current loan portfolio.

Management maintains a positive outlook for the 
SBC Group, attributing this to strategic investments 
in resources and a strong emphasis on liquidity 
management. Consequently, SBC is well-positioned 
to navigate the ever-evolving business landscape and 
capitalise on emerging opportunities. Management 
remains confident that SBC will continue to 
deliver favourable, inflation-beating returns to its 
shareholders in the foreseeable future.

Conclusion

Despite challenging economic conditions and 
a competitive payroll market, the Group has 
performed admirably over the past year. The 
Group has successfully diversified its product 
portfolio, increased market share, enhanced 
operational efficiency, and maintained financial 
stability. Additionally, we have made significant 
investments in our personnel, technology, and social 
responsibility initiatives, ensuring value creation for 
all stakeholders. We are confident despite the below 
expected financial results in 2025, that the various 
initiatives and efforts implemented during the 2025 
year, will provide a solid foundation for  growth and 
success in future.

We extend our gratitude to our shareholders for their 
unwavering trust and support, and to our employees 
for their dedication and excellence. Their loyalty 
and commitment have been fundamental to our 
achievements. We look forward to rewarding them 
with exceptional performance and returns in the 
future.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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CEO’s Report

Introduction

SBC Limited is a financial solutions organization with 
operational focus areas in;

a)	 providing unsecured credit to underserviced sectors 
of the population, and 

b)	 property development and property rental stock. 

The lending activities are achieved through SBC’s 
subsidiaries, Select Limited (Eswatini) and Lesana 
Limited (Lesotho). 

The Group’s property portfolio where it derives rental 
income from, is housed in Pine Acres Limited (“Pine 
Acres”), which owns a 42-hectare tract of land in 
Malkerns, Eswatini, on which it has developed both 
residential as well as commercial properties. Malkerns 
Square is a modern, resource efficient, lifestyle estate, 
containing 1, 2- and 3-bedroom apartments as well as 
standalone luxury townhouse units. It also includes a 
shopping precinct housing key multi-national tenants 
such as Pick and Pay and KFC. 

Operational review 

SBC Limited’s financial results for the year ending 31 
December 2024 is indicative of a challenging market 
environment impeding on the potential growth of the 
Group. The high-interest rate cycle in the market had a 
significant impact on our financial results contributing 
to increased finance cost of E7.0m (December 2023: 
E11.0m). A further material impactor is the drop in interest 
income after approximately E29.0mil of interest income 
was substituted for the strategic investment in Ezabeni 
Property Holdings made in quarter 4 of the prior year.

These results indicate the impact of low levels of growth in 
core market potential within current lending environments 
for both payroll and private market segments, combined 
with increasing pressures across all market segments 
due to real earnings increases lagging behind consumer 
cost increases. 

The net result was observed in a more aggressive market 
approach by key competitors in the payroll sector. This 
included extending maximum loan tenors and increasing 
the values for unsecured loans. These changes were 
accompanied by a rise in default and write-off rates, 

Wayne Faulds
Chief Executive Officer

largely driven by higher emigration and early retirement 
figures as civil servants and private employees sought 
better-paying opportunities elsewhere.

In contrast, 2024 witnessed significant growth in the 
residential rental sector in Eswatini. This is reflected 
in an 8% increase in occupancy rates, which supported 
a 16% rise in rental revenue. This confirms the Group’s 
long-term strategy of focusing substantial efforts on 
expanding its property interests. 

Our Eswatini loan book demonstrated stability with 
disbursements performing per expectations, we did 
however encounter higher-than-expected settlements 
offsetting the growth potential of the payroll loan book. 
Well worth noting is the excellent growth experienced of 
42% in our higher yielding shorter term product book. 
This was one of management’s key objectives during the 
2024 year and it is expected that this positive trend will 
continue. As a result of the growth achieved in the short-
term products, the overall provision for credit losses on 
loans and advances increased marginally as expected 
from 3.19% in December 2023 to 3.46% in December 2024, 
but still well better than budgeted increase to 3.70%, as a 
result of a higher ECL provision coupled to this product 
grouping. An ECL provision of slightly below 10% on these 
product grouping is however still market related and 
deemed as appropriate. 

In Lesana Lesotho, the competitive market led to higher-
than-expected inbound settlements, offsetting the full 
growth potential in this market. Despite this, Lesana’s 
profit before-tax grew by a strong 8.34% compared to the 
comparable period, far surpassing the IMF’s projected 
2.7% economic growth for 2024. This success indicates 
strong potential for both Lesana and the SBC Group’s 
future growth. Management has started rolling out a 
higher yielding shorter-term product in Lesana, similar 
to Select Limited Eswatini, during the 2024 period. As 
with the experience in Eswatini, overall arrear provisions 
increased marginally as expected, ending the year at 
2.27% overall compared to 2.14% in 2023, but still well 
better than budgeted increase to 2.59%.  Management is 
anticipating aggressive growth in this product for the next 
24 months.

The Group’s residential rental portfolio, comprising 147 
units and 8 Embassy Units, has experienced a consistent 
increase in occupancy rates, rising by 8% since December 
2023 and reaching 98% occupancy as of 31 December 
2024 (2022: 91%). This trend highlights the success of the 
residential offerings in Eswatini.  Furthermore, the retail 
centre remains fully occupied through long-term leases 
with prominent tenants including Pick n Pay, KFC and Afri 
Pack.

In conclusion, the SBC Group’s objective includes its 
commitment to delivering value to shareholders through 
the implementation of long-term strategic objectives. 
These objectives encompass the intention to expand both 
its residential and commercial property portfolios as well 
as the underlying mortgage loan products, by capitalizing 
on its existing loan book business and resources.
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Market and competitor conditions 

In Eswatini, our primary target market remains the 
civil service market. This market segment continues to 
struggle with real earnings which have not necessarily 
kept pace with true cost of living increases. 

In our Lesotho market, we share the same primary target 
market, which is also impacted by low wage levels relative 
to their SADC peers, and which also have not necessarily 
kept up with real inflationary pressures. 

This relative economic stagnation in both regions has 
led to increased competition from established players, 
with significant regional competitors seeking to improve 
their attractiveness and earnings through enhancing 
their value, notably, maximum loan tenor. While such 
a strategy is always likely to result in short-term gains 
for competitors, it also will have a negative impact on 
long term viability as it merely serves to increase real 
levels of client indebtedness, in some cases feeds over 
indebtedness, increase funding mismatches and elevates 
default risk. 

As a responsible lender, the Select Group chooses not 
to follow such strategies and instead seeks to enhance 
client retention and market growth through other means. 

This conservative approach has thus far stood the Group 
in good stead, as evidenced by the relative predictability 
in overall arrear impairments detailed above.   

Property division 

Housing remains a fundamental core area for the Group, 
with substantial medium to long-term growth strategies 
in place to ensure future value is realized through the 
underlying property portfolio. Malkerns has experienced 
a consistent increase in occupancy rates, rising by 8% 
since December 2023, reaching 98% occupancy as of 
31 December 2024 (2023: 91%). Following the success 
of our property portfolio, management has initiated the 
next phase of our long-term strategy to develop between 
400 and 500 residential units. In addition to our existing 
offering, the new development will include between 100 
and 150 affordable 1-bedroom and 2-bedroom units. 
These units will be specifically designed and built for:

•	 Conventional sale (under the Sectional Title Act);

•	 Rental stock expansion; and

•	 A “lease-to-own” product provided by the Select 
Group to successful applicants.

The “lease-to-own” initiative is unprecedented in Eswatini 
and will offer home ownership inclusion to a segment 
of the market that has previously been excluded due to 
limitations in the traditional bank financing products.

Pine Acres has initiated the construction of 10 Townhouses 
to complement their portfolio. These properties will 
be available for rent, sale, and lease-to-own options, 
catering to individuals who require more than what the 
apartments offer. Construction commenced in June 2024 
and is scheduled for completion by May 2025.

The retail centre remains fully occupied through long- 

term leases in place with Pick n Pay, KFC and West Pack. 

Building on the success of our initial retail offering, we 
are pleased to announce that the development of the 
second phase retail centre at Malkerns Park View has 
commenced. The new retail space, with 6,129 m² of GLA, 
will feature high-end retail establishments with a primary 
focus on quality brand tenants. Pine Acres is committed 
to developing properties that meet high standards in both 
design and finish to ensure the retention of long-term 
tenants and sustainable future home ownership products.

Management Team 

We are pleased to note that we have enjoyed a period of 
stability in top management in our business units. 

Mr. Bheki Dlamini remains at the helm in Eswatini, 
building on his 16 years with the company. He is ably 
supported by Mr. Sakhile Zwane (GM) and the rest of the 
management team who boast a managerial career with 
the Group of in excess of 10 years each on average. 

Mr. Seabata Ntelo remains at the helm of our Lesotho 
business, after joining us late in 2021 after stints as a 
senior executive in both Nedbank Lesotho as well as 
in the Central Bank of Lesotho. The remainder of the 
management team boast an average of 6 years managerial 
service to Lesotho, thus ensuring that the business is 
in safe and experienced hands. The GM post, vacant as 
at 31 December 2024, has since been filled through the 
appointment of Mr Khauhelo Ramakongoana.

The property business is managed by Mr. PJ Jacquire, Mr. 
Lyle Hutton, and Mr. Benjy Dunn, all three experienced 
property professionals; PJ taking care of property 
development, while Lyle is the estate manager and Benjy 
looks after the rental section. 

Corporate Governance 

As reported in the prior period, the corporate governance 
framework applied by the Group is based on the King 
Code on Governance Principles forming part of the King 
Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 
(King IV), and management confirms that the Group has 
in all material respects applied the principles of the 
code during the financial period. Specific board level 
committees are established and operate in line with 
the requirements of prevailing legislation. Policies and 
procedures are regularly reviewed, and amendments 
submitted to the board for ratification. Where applicable 
or necessary, Group policies are customized to harmonize 
with local law. 

An approved Board Charter provides guidelines to 
the roles and responsibilities of all directors. In both 
countries, we have appointed Compliance Officers who 
report jointly to the respective boards and to the Group 
Head of Compliance, Ms Sabine Busviah. 

The Group’s employee performance assessment 
processes are robust and are conducted twice per year by 
country management teams. This process is continually 
enhanced to ensure a fair and equitable assessment is 
done on each individuals performance, and that they are 
remunerated fairly as a consequence. 
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Financial review	

Throughout the year, the socio-economic environment 
in Eswatini and Lesotho remained stable. Nonetheless, 
we noticed a general reduction in the local Eswatini 
market, affecting both of our market segments as well 
as some of African Alliance Group’s retail operations. 
Notwithstanding the challenges encountered within 
the financial services sector, SBC demonstrated 
determination and resilience in pursuing our goals and 
strategy, thereby solidifying our current market share 
and achieved a reasonable outcome for the year ended.

The SBC Group remained vigilant in expanding the 
business and formulating strategies and opportunities 
to support ongoing operations, consequently SBC’s gross 
loan book grew by 3.7% to E1.42b from E1.36b.

The short-term, high-yield product offered by Select 
Limited experienced a 42% increase this year. The 
success of this product since its introduction has led 
management to introduce a similar short-term product 
in Lesana Lesotho for 2024. This initiative has gained 
substantial traction and established a solid foundation for 
strong projected growth in 2025.

Subsequent to a temporary liquidity constraint in quarter 
four in Lesana, during February 2025, Lesana issued the 
first tranche under its LSL200m Listed Medium Term 
Note (“MTN”) Programme, successfully raising LSL87.8m 
of new debt investments. This landmark issuance is 
significant not only for Lesana but also for the entire 
Lesotho Capital Markets, marking the first corporate 
issuance in the market. Issuing the debt instrument 
through the Maseru Securities Market underscores the 
strong market confidence in the Lesana operations. 
Notably, the first tranche was predominantly subscribed 
by wholesale investors and high net worth individuals—a 
strategic decision designed to ensure a smooth maiden 
issuance.

Management is now preparing for the issuance of the 
second tranche in quarter two of 2025, and we anticipate 
replicating the initial success by leveraging current 
market demand, with a blend of wholesale investors and 
an increased presence of retail investors.

The SBC Group’s consumer lending revenue increased 
by 1.5% to E423.9m (December 2023: E417.7m). In 
both Eswatini and Lesotho, an all-inclusive yield of 
approximately 29.8% was maintained as a result of a 

CFO’s Report

Shane Leas 
Chief Financial Officer

Our Group remuneration policy is aligned to the 
business strategy and the achievement of performance 
objectives, to ensure continued long-term success.

Prospects for our Consumer Lending Business 

The year 2024 marked a period of consolidation during 
which the Group laid the foundation for a renewed 
growth phase commencing in 2025. Management has 
redefined their strategies for the upcoming year and 
will concentrate on the following initiatives to elevate 
our business:

•	 We will continue to evolve our operating model 
to become more client-friendly by developing 
multi-channel transacting capabilities. This will 
allow clients to interact with Select via a choice 
of channels, both brick-and-mortar as well as 
electronic;

•	 Enhancing service delivery including the ability 
to risk assess and disburse loan products more 
promptly to potential customers compared to 
commercial banks;

•	 Developing a true end-to-end CRM capability 
remains a priority to better manage customer 
interactions and improve overall customer 
experience;

•	 To aggressively pursue other higher yielding, off-
payroll market segments, and 

•	 To grow our capabilities and presence in the 
digital and social media space to better engage 
with our clients and enhance our market reach.

CEO’s Report (cont.)
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stable performing payroll book coupled to strong growth 
experienced in the shorter-term products. SBC’s total 
yield is projected to increase to around 30.5% in the near 
future due to the growth strategy of the shorter-term 
products in Lesana, Lesotho.

The SBC Group’s revenues increased by 2.0% to E442.8m 
(December 2023: E434.0m), inclusive of revenue of 
E18.9m (December 2023: E16.2m) generated from the 
retail and residential rentals of our Malkerns Square 
property development.

The book profit margin in Eswatini was diluted compared 
to the prior comparable period due to the higher cost 
of debt, including both interest and debt-raising costs. 
Although a marginal increase can be noted in the total bad 
debt provisions as a % of gross loan book, management 
was comfortable with the overall collection rate in 
Eswatini and Lesotho. The reasonably stable collection 
performance enabled the total SBC Group’s impairment 
provision to end at 2.94% of the gross loan book, 
marginally higher than the December 2023 comparable 
period of 2.73%.

It is imperative to note the factors contributing to the 
increase in net interest for the current financial period:

I.	 Approximately E29.0mil of interest income was 
substituted for the strategic investment in Ezabeni 
Property Holdings made in quarter 4 of the prior year.

II.	 The current high-interest rate cycle also contributed 
to increased finance cost of E7.0m (December 2023: 
E11.0m). 

Management is confident that the future fair value gains 
in the Ezabeni Properties Investment will benefit the 
SBC Group and more so support its housing strategy by 
providing ample land for expanding its Lease-to-Own 
strategy beyond the land availability limitations of Pine 
Acres.

The SBC Group’s total operating expenses increased 
by a mere 1.4% to E200.4m (December 2023: E197.6m), 
highlighting the Group’s continued commitment in 
extracting operational efficiencies.

The current year under review ended on a loss after tax 
of (E3.8m), (December 2023: E 28.9m). This was mainly 
attributable to the following factors:

I.	 The high-interest rate cycle resulting in higher 
interest cost of approximately E7.0m, which is not a 
permanent occurrence and should start to move back 
to normalised rates over the next 12 to 18 months.

II.	 The impact of the movement in provision for bad debts 
of E6.1m (December 2023: E1.5m).

III.	 The substitution of approximately E29m of related 
party interest income for the investment in Ezabeni 
Property Holdings.

IV.	 Withholding tax credits of E 4.2m reversed in Eswatini.

V.	 Extraordinary consulting fees amounting to E11.5m.

Management remains optimistic about the future and is 
confident that the strategic investments and efficiencies 
implemented will continue to drive growth and profitability 
in the coming years.

Liquidity and funding

Funding for the Eswatini business is primarily raised 
in the capital markets through the subsidiary Select 
Limited’s Medium Term Note programme (‘MTN’), which 
is listed on the Eswatini Stock Exchange, as well as a 
number of promissory notes and term loans placed with 
various institutions. Notes issued in the MTN programme 
and unlisted debt instruments typically range between 
E10m and E40m in value with tenure between 1 and 5 
years. Interest rates are predominantly fixed, meaning 
the increases in the prime overdraft lending rate during 
2022/23 affected financing costs, and this impact 
remained evident throughout the year under review. As 
existing finance rolls on maturity and new funding is 
secured, the higher prime overdraft rate, which provides 
a basis for interest rate negotiations, will result in higher 
cost of new funding and in so doing will increase the 
overall cost of borrowings.  

The net debt equity ratio at 6.2:1 (2023: 5.2:1) remains 
within industry accepted norms as well as the 
management’s comfort level and accordingly they are 
of the view that there is scope for further debt funded 
growth in the business. 

Net debt is after setting off surplus cash which is invested 
in highly liquid money market instruments or other 
companies in the greater African Alliance group on arms-
length commercial terms, in order to minimise the net 
carrying cost. Debt instruments issued are detailed in 
note 21 to the financial statements. 

Regulatory 

In Eswatini, Select Limited, a subsidiary of SBC Limited, 
is licensed by the Financial Services Regulatory Authority 
as a credit provider authorised to carry on the business of 
money lending under the Financial Services Regulatory 
Authority Act of 2010 and the Consumer Credit Act of 2016. 
This license is annually renewable, and the business is 
subject to periodic and ad hoc inspections by the FSRA. 

In Lesotho, Lesana Lesotho Limited, a subsidiary of SBC 
Limited, is licensed by the Central Bank of Lesotho as a 
credit only microfinance institution under the Financial 
Institutions (Credit Only and Deposit Taking Microfinance 
Institutions) Regulations 2014.

Dividends 

The board of directors considers the capital and funding 
needs of the business, as well as performing a Solvency 
and Liquidity assessment per the Companies’ Act, before 
declaring dividends. This will take into account the 
impending maturity profile of its funding commitments 
coupled with a conservative assessment of its ability 
to roll such maturities as they arise as well as secure 
additional new funding. The directors took a decision to 
declare a dividend of E10m in the current financial year 
(2023: E50m).
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Introduction
SBC Limited and its subsidiaries are committed to the 
principles of openness, fairness, integrity, accountability, 
transparency and social responsibility to safeguard the 
interest of the Group and its shareholders and investors. 
The Group is committed to conducting its business in 
accordance with sound corporate governance practices 
and to balance this with the need to achieve sustainable 
return on shareholders’ investments.

The Board of Directors
The Board of SBC Limited have a collective responsibility 
to provide effective corporate governance while providing 
leadership and strategic vision in driving the economic 
performance of the Group.

The Board of SBC Limited is represented by executive and 
non-executive Directors. Non-executive representation 
on the Board brings external judgment on issues of 
strategy, performance, minority rights protections where 
applicable and expertise on the relevant markets the 
companies operate in.

The non-executive directors are individuals who objectively 
contribute a wide range of industry skills, knowledge and 
experience to the Board and are not involved in the daily 
operations of the Group. All non-executive directors have 
unrestricted access to management at any time.

The Board meets at least bi-annually or as circumstances 
require, and at its simplest level, the Board is responsible 
for:
•	 Setting, with management, the strategic direction of 

SBC Limited;
•	 Evaluating and providing input into SBC Limited’s 

future financial/operational targets;
•	 Reviewing performance of SBC Limited against 

budget and targets;
•	 Implementing Board plans and strategies 

encompassing SBC Limited’s values, purpose and 
stakeholders;

•	 Evaluating risk management and identifying areas of 
weakness/non-compliance;

•	 Considering and approving material transactions 
entered into by SBC Limited;

•	 Ensuring that the Group comply with all relevant 
laws, regulations and codes of business practice, 
and communicates with shareholders openly and 
promptly; and

•	 Approving/dealing with any other matters required 
in terms of statute, regulation, sound corporate 
governance practices or SBC Limited’s internal 
policy.

The CEO of each business plays a significant and strategic 
role in the operational success of SBC Limited’s business, 
and drives SBC Limited to achieve its financial and 
operating goals and objectives.

The Company Secretary plays a critical role in the 
Corporate Governance of the Group. It acts as an advisor 

Corporate Governance

to the Board, guiding individual directors and committees 
in areas such as Corporate Governance, updates on legal 
and statutory amendments and the effective execution of 
Director’s responsibilities and fiduciary duties.

Working Committees
The Directors are assisted in the performance of their 
duties on the Board by the appointment of working 
committees. The Board delegates the responsibility for 
the implementation of strategy to the CEO. Management 
is also responsible for establishing and implementing 
effective systems of internal control and risk management 
procedures to ensure that the business is conducted 
responsibly, and for supporting the implementation of 
strategy.

These committees advise the Board on specialised 
and technical aspects of the business, and support the 
Board in ensuring that its oversight responsibilities are 
effectively discharged.

Board and Working committee mandates

Technical Advisory Committee (TAC)
Independent non-executive members may be invited to 
join these committees adding independence and suitable 
industry expertise to the committees. The TAC’s act as 
advisory committees of SBC Limited and are responsible 
for:
•	 Providing strategic, technical, advisory and 

operational services to SBC Limited;
•	 Advising on implementing SBC Limited strategy;
•	 Considering broad business management issues;
•	 Monitoring internal controls and risk management;
•	 Advising on measures to be taken regarding 

performance of business units and communicating 
business decisions and strategy to the various 
business units;

•	 Providing administrative, accounting, secretarial and 
human resource management support relating to 
SBC Limited;

•	 Developing and implementing the business and 
information technology systems, procedures and 
controls; and

•	 Monitoring compliance with all regulatory and legal 
requirements relating to the business of SBC Limited.

Executive Committee (Exco)
Each business silo has an Exco for every country it operates 
in. Exco’s are involved in the day-to-day activities of the 
business, responsible for monitoring and reporting to the 
TAC on internal controls and management while ensuring 
the effective implementation of decisions made on such 
matters, and operates as a medium of communication 
and co-ordination between the business units, the TAC 
and the Board.   

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is established to ensure 
that directors, management and staff members of 
SBC Limited are fairly rewarded for their individual 
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contributions to SBC Limited’s performance and to give 
stakeholders the assurance that such remuneration 
philosophy is set independently of management.

Duties
The principal duties of the Committee are as follows:
•	 Performing an annual review of policies for all staff 

members’ remuneration;
•	 Performing an annual review of the basis of 

calculation of all staff members’ remuneration to 
ensure the calculations are fair and reasonable;

•	 Reviewing current international industry practice 
and adjustments for local operating conditions;

•	 Reviewing different methods of remunerating senior 
executives and Directors;

•	 Reviewing fringe benefits;
•	 Advising on and reviewing staff share incentive 

schemes and approving the allocation of benefits to 
employees; and

•	 Assessing shareholder sentiment on remuneration 
packages, where appropriate. 

Risk Management and Audit Committee 

Objectives and Authority
The principal purpose of the Committee is to assist the 
Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight 
responsibilities in relation to internal control systems, 
accounting policies and practices, internal/external audit 
functions as well as relevant group financial reporting 
and the management of risk within the Group as follows:

Audit
•	 The committee is an advisory committee which does 

not relieve the directors of any of their responsibilities, 
but assists them to fulfil those responsibilities.

•	 The Committee is authorised to investigate any 
matter within the scope of its responsibilities and 
make appropriate recommendations to the Board.

•	 The Committee has unrestricted access to senior 
management of the Group and Company records as 
required.

Board of 
Directors

Audit  
Committee

Country Executive 
Committee

Technical Advisory 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Antonio de Castro 

Craig Clucas **

Sunil Banymandhub  
(Chairman) **

Nigel England * 

Rudi van Heerden  *

Shane Leas (Chief Financial 
Officer of SBC Limited)

SNG Grant Thornton Chartered 
Accountants (Eswatini) (Auditor  
Representative)

Executive management

Independent  
non-executive members 
(if invited)

Legal and Compliance

Executive management

* 	 Non-executive members
**	 Independent, non-executive members

•	 The Committee is authorised to meet with the 
external or internal auditors, without any other 
member of management being present, as the 
Committee deems appropriate.

•	 The Committee is authorised to obtain any 
independent legal or other professional advice that it 
considers necessary to execute its functions.

•	 The Committee secures where deemed necessary, 
the attendance of external professional advisers at 
its meetings in order to perform its duties.

Risk
From a risk perspective the Committee will:
•	 Review and assess the integrity of the risk control 

systems and ensure that the risk policies and 
strategies are effectively managed;

•	 Set out the nature, role, responsibility and authority 
of the risk management function within the company 
and outline the scope of risk management work;

•	 Monitor external developments relating to the 
practice of corporate accountability and the reporting 
of specifically associated risk, including emerging 
and prospective impacts; and

•	 Review the risk management framework to ensure it 
is updated regularly to address new elements of risk 
in each Silo and at Group level.

Membership
The Committee shall consist of not less than two members 
appointed by the Board, possessing the necessary 
financial expertise in order to properly assist and advise 
the committee in the execution of its responsibilities. The 
Non-executive Chairman of the Company, if a member of 
the Committee, shall not be Chairman of the Committee.

•	 The Committee shall appoint a Chairman from one of 
its members for each meeting.

•	 The Board shall have the power at any time to remove 
any members from the Committee and to fill any 
vacancies so created.

•	 The Committee may, when so deemed necessary, 
invite any other member/s of management or staff or 



14 | SBC Limited | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

individual/s internal/external to the organisation to 
attend meetings in order to provide advice, facilitation 
or clarification regarding any risk related issues.

•	 The Committee shall normally require the Group 
Chief Financial Officer, the head of Group Internal 
Audit and from time to time, a representative of the 
Company’s external auditors and representative(s) of 
the Company to attend meetings or parts of meetings.

•	 The Secretary of the Committee shall be appointed by 
the Committee.

Responsibilities 
The Audit responsibilities of the committee shall be:

External audit
•	 To consider the appointment, independence and 

retention of the external auditor(s), and any questions 
of resignation or dismissal of the auditor(s). This 
would include evaluating the performance of the 
external auditors.

•	 To discuss with the external auditor(s) before the 
audit commences the auditor(s) engagement letter, 
the nature and scope of the audit engagement, 
the proposed budget audit fee, and to ensure co- 
ordination where more than one audit firm is involved 
and maintenance of a professional relationship.

Financial statements
Examine the interim and annual financial statements, the 
accompanying reports to shareholders, the preliminary 
announcement of results and any other announcement 
regarding the Company’s results or other financial 
information to be made public, before submission to the 
board, focusing particularly on:
•	 any changes in accounting policies and practices;
•	 any major provisions, judgmental areas and 

impairments;
•	 significant adjustments resulting from the audit;
•	 the going concern assumption, based on short-term 

financial and medium term integrated sustainability 
perspectives;

•	 capital adequacy;
•	 internal control;
•	 compliance with accounting standards, local and 

international;
•	 consider post balance sheet events and their potential 

effect on the financial statements;
•	 consider off balance sheet transactions and the 

reporting thereof;
•	 compliance with legal requirements; and
•	 the propriety of major adjustments processed at year 

end.

Internal control and internal audit (when applicable)
•	 To review Group Internal Audit’s (GIA) compliance 

with its charter as approved by the committee and 
conclusions with regard to internal control.

•	 To review the effectiveness of the company’s systems 
of internal control, including internal financial 

controls, fraud prevention and detection frameworks 
and computerised information systems’ control and 
security.

•	 To review the adequacy of corrective action taken in 
response to significant internal audit findings, arising 
from internal audits or special investigations.

•	 To review significant cases of director or employee 
conflicts of interest, misconduct or fraud, or any 
other unethical activity by employees, the directors 
or the company.

•	 To review and approve internal audit plans, staffing 
and resources for GIA.

•	 To consider the appointment, dismissal or re- 
assignment of the head of the internal audit function.

•	 To consider and review the appointment of internal 
audit service providers.

Ethics
•	 To review any statements on ethical standards for the 

Company.
•	 To enquire into, and if necessary further investigate 

any cases of unethical behaviour of key executives or 
fraud perpetuated by any employee or third party.

Financial reporting
•	 Review financial information presented by 

management, together with reports and opinions 
from external auditors (including letters to 
management and their responses thereto).

•	 Assess the appropriateness of accounting policies 
and methods chosen by management, particularly 
those relating to significant estimates and judgments.

•	 Consider and make appropriate recommendations 
to the Board regarding major changes to Group 
accounting policies and procedures.

•	 Review the reliability and appropriateness of 
disclosure in the financial statements and financial 
reporting to stakeholders particularly with regard to 
estimates and judgments.

•	 Review the going concern assertion for inclusion 
in the Company’s annual report that describes the 
short-term financial assumptions made as well as the 
medium term integrated sustainability dependencies 
identified.

•	 Review a statement for inclusion in the Company’s 
annual report that describes the audit and compliance 
committee’s composition and responsibilities 
(including its mandate), and how these responsibilities 
were discharged.

•	 Make appropriate recommendations to the Board as 
to whether financial statements should be approved.

Tax matters
•	 Enquire into the tax position of the Company regarding 

prior year returns, assessments and any unresolved 
disputes relating to normal or indirect taxes.

•	 The Committee will monitor changes to financial 
legislation that impacts the Company and its 
business.

Corporate Governance continued
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•	 The Committee will monitor and evaluate the 
performance of the internal audit function in terms of 
its objectives.

•	 The Committee in carrying out its duties under the 
terms of this charter will have due regard to the 
principles of governance.

•	 The Committee will annually evaluate its performance 
and the performance of its members against this 
charter.

•	 The Committee shall review its terms of reference 
periodically, as required.

The responsibilities of the Risk Committee are:
•	 Review the effectiveness of the Enterprise Risk 

Management system within the Group and be assured 
that material risks are identified and appropriate risk, 
including the formulation and subsequent updating of 
appropriate Group policies.

•	 Evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of 
administrative, operating and accounting controls 
used by the Group.

•	 Review actual and potential material risk exposures 
based on formal assessments.

•	 Monitor the implementation of business unit and 
corporate risk management plans.

•	 Review insurance and other risk transfer 
arrangements, and consider whether appropriate 
coverage is in place.

•	 Review the business contingency planning process 
within the Group and be assured that material risks 
are identified and appropriate contingency plans are 
in place.

•	 Review the performance of the Group Head of Risk 
and Insurance and the risk management system as 
well as all resources.

•	 Review the Group risk register and ensure the 
maintenance thereof at both operational and 
strategic levels.

The committee will not be responsible for:
•	 Becoming involved in day-to-day operations, 

management functions or decision-making; and
•	 Supervising the performance of executives.
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Corporate Social Investment

L I M I T E D

“Sikhula Nawe”

As a responsible corporate citizen, the SBC Group is committed to creating shared value for our stakeholders and the 
communities we serve. In 2024, we launched several impactful and sustainable corporate social governance initiatives 
in the Kingdoms of Eswatini and Lesotho, aligning with our core values and strategic objectives.

As education constitutes one of our primary areas for 
loan use proceeds, in April 2024, Select partnered with 
Baphalai Eswatini Red Cross Society (BERCS) and donated 
E400,000 to renovate four schools across the storm-
affected regions of Hlohho, Manzini, Shiselweni, and 

School Refurbishment

REGION	 HLOHHO

SCHOOL NAME	 NKONYENI HIGH SCHOOL

LOCATION	 TEBETEBE AREA, PIGGS 
PEAK INKHUNDLA

FIELD CO-ORDINATOR	 CELANI MALAZA

DATE	 10TH APRIL 2024

BUDGET ALLOCATION	 E68,000

REGION	 SHISELWENI

SCHOOL NAME	 HLATIKHULU CENTRAL 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

LOCATION	 HLATI AREA,  
MTSAMBAMA

FIELD CO-ORDINATOR	 HLOB’SILE KHUMALO

DATE	 11TH APRIL 2024

BUDGET ALLOCATION	 E120,000

BeforeBefore

After After

Lubombo in Eswatini. The devastating storms that struck 
late in 2023 caused significant damage to infrastructure, 
disrupting schools and severely impacting the learning 
environment for students in these areas.
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“Re hola le oena”

On the 12 October 2024, the Lesana Financial Services 
hosted a Wellness Day at Lesotho High School, to 
promote health, wellness, and community building 
aimed at stakeholders (employees, customers, 
associates and the boarder community). At Lesana 
Financial Services, we understand the critical role that 
mental, physical, and social well-being play a vital role 
in creating a balanced, productive, and harmonious 
society by addressing issues such as workplace 
stress, sedentary lifestyles, and limited access to 
wellness education. The team spent M200,949 to 
guarantee their dedication towards uplifting not only 
its employees but the communities it serves.

REGION LUBOMBO

SCHOOL NAME NYAMBO PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

LOCATION STEKI-KALANGA AREA, 
LUGONGOLWENI
INKHUNDLA

FIELD CO-ORDINATOR THULANI SHONGWE

DATE 17TH APRIL 2024

BUDGET ALLOCATION E112,500

During

After After

REGION MANZINI

SCHOOL NAME KABHUDLA PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

LOCATION HLATI AREA, MAFUTSENI

FIELD CO-ORDINATOR WONDERBOY GININDZA

DATE 17TH APRIL 2024

BUDGET ALLOCATION E100,000

Wellness Day in collaboration 
with Deputy Primary Secretary of 

Tourism, Sports, and Culture

Before
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The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act to 
maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible 
for the content and integrity of the annual financial 
statements and related financial information included in 
this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 
Group as at the end of the financial year and the results of 
its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 
conformity with IFRS® Accounting Standards. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on 
the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS® Accounting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Group and place considerable importance 
on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable 
the directors to meet these responsibilities, the directors 
set standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Group and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across 
the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, 
the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 

appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the annual financial statements. However, any system of 
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and 
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 
loss.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast 
for the year to 31 December 2025 and, in light of this review 
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the 
Group has or had access to adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the Group’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
examined by the Group’s external auditors and their report 
is presented on pages 21 to 23.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 24 to 
76, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the board of directors on 24 March 2025 
and were signed on their behalf by:

_______________________  ____________________
M M Dlamini S M Ginindza

Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

_______________________  ____________________
M M Dlamini S M Ginindza
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on 
the annual financial statements of SBC Limited and its 
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024.
1. Incorporation
The Company was incorporated on 13 April 2011 and obtained 
its certificate to commence business on the same day.
2. Nature of business
The Group has investment holdings and offers financial 
services with operations comprising the provision of 
financial loans and services to individuals. It also involves 
the development of retail and commercial property to either 
rent or sell using financial services provided by the Group.
There have been no material changes to the nature of the 
Group’s business from the prior year.
3. Review of financial results and activities
The consolidated annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act. The accounting 
policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior 
year.
Full details of the financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows of the Group are set out in these consolidated 
annual financial statements.
4. Share capital
There has been no change to the authorised or issued share 
capital during the year under review.
5. Dividends
The board of directors recommend the approval of a final 
dividend of E10 000 000 for the year. (2023: E50 000 000).
6. Corporate governance
Sound corporate governance structures and processes are 
being applied at SBC Limited and are considered by the Board 
to be pivotal in delivering sustainable growth in the interests 
of all stakeholders. Governance structures and processes 
are reviewed regularly and adapted to accommodate 
internal corporate developments and to reflect national and 
international best practice to the extent considered in the 
best interest of the Group.
The board meets regularly, retains control over the Group 
and monitors effective management. The board retains key 
decision making to ensure that it maintains proper direction 
and control of the Group. The roles of the Chairperson 
and the Chief Executive Officer do not vest in the same 
person and the Chairperson is a non-executive director. 
The Chairperson provides leadership and guidance to the 
Group’s board, encourages proper deliberation of all matters 
requiring the board’s attention, obtains optimal input from 
the other directors and ensures all decisions of the board are 
clearly stated and are likely to advance the Group’s interests.
7. Directors
The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:
Directors Office Nationality
T Dladla Independent non-executive & 

Chairperson
LiSwati

M M Dlamini Independent non-executive & 
Chairperson

LiSwati

 South African
S M Ginindza LiSwati
S K O'Sullivan South African

8. Public officer
The Company’s public officer is Nigel England. 

9. Holding company
The Company’s holding company is Select Africa Finance 
Limited incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius.
10. Ultimate holding company
The Company’s ultimate holding company is Cinco Holdings 
Limited which is incorporated in the Isle of Man.
11. Events after the reporting period
The directors are not aware of any material event which 
occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this 
report.
12. Going concern
The Group made a loss for the year ended 31 December 
2024 of E (3 792 188) (2023: profit of E 28 944 058) and as at 
that date, its current liabilities exceeded its current assets 
by E 425 199 147 (2023: E 171 875 656) and its total assets 
exceeded its total liabilities by E 433 846 750 (2023: E 470 
860 700).
The Company made a loss for the year ended 31 December 
2024 of E (11 764 498) (2023: profit of E 283 274 137) and as at 
that date, its current liabilities exceeded its current assets 
by E 345 597 307 (2023: E 209 640 806) and its total assets 
exceeded its total liabilities by E 559 643 155 (2023: E 581 407 
653). During the 2024 year, extra-ordinary consulting fees 
of E11.5m were payable, which is not expected to reoccur in 
future years. Additionally withholding tax credits of E4.5m 
was disallowed and subsequently reversed in Select Ltd, 
that impacted SBC’s current year’s profitability, this impact 
is also not expected to reoccur in future years.
As at the date of these Financial Statement, approximately 
E353m of debt instruments included in current liabilities as 
at 31 December 2024 rolled and were extended for at least 
a further 12 months, with an additional E907m expected 
to roll with similar terms, before December 2025. This 
further demonstrates an improved liquidity position of these 
Financial Statements subsequent to 31 December 2024.
Management has determined that there will be sufficient 
resources to settle liabilities and obligations as they fall due. 
Some of the measures in place to manage liquidity include 
ensuring that the repayment date of a sufficient portion of 
existing debt and creditors is extended at a level which 
is well within levels previously experienced in the asset 
management sector being of a longer settlement period, 
continuing to engage the market to secure additional funding 
where necessary and minimising discretionary expenditure 
in order to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet the 
ongoing commitments of the Company.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the 
basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement 
of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will 
occur in the ordinary course of business.
13. Secretary
The Company secretary is African Alliance Advisory (Pty) 
Limited.
Business address:	 Illovo Edge Office Block Building 4
	 9 Harries Road, Illovo, 2196
	 South Africa
14. Terms of appointment of the auditors
SNG Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants (Eswatini) have 
indicated their willingness to continue in office in accordance 
with the Companies Act, 2009.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the shareholders of SBC Limited
OPINION
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of SBC Limited (the group and company) set out on pages 10 to 
68, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated and 
separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity 
and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, including material accounting policy information and the Directors report as set out on pages 4 to 5.
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 
separate financial position of SBC Limited as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS ® Accounting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of Eswatini.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the group and company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit in Eswatini, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

Key Audit Matter
Impairment of loans advances (Note 13)
The disclosure associated with the impairment of loans and advances 
is set out in the financial statements in the following notes:
•	 Note 1.3 - Significant accounting judgements, Loans and 

advances
•	 Note 13 - Loans and advances note
•	 Note 35 - Risk management (Credit risk section) The Group is 

in the business of short-term lending. The impairment of loans 
and advances represents management’s best estimate of the 
losses anticipated within the loan portfolios at year end. The 
estimation of credit losses is inherently uncertain and is subject 
to significant judgement. Furthermore, models used by the 
entity to determine expected credit losses require certain inputs 
that are not fully observable.

The key areas of significant management judgement within the 
expected credit losses (ECL) calculations include:
•	 Evaluation of significant increase in credit risk (SICR); and
•	 Input assumptions applied to estimate the probability of default 

(PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD) 
within the ECL measurement.

Given the complexity and judgment involved in estimating the credit 
losses, we consider the impairment of loans and advances to be a 
key audit matter in our audit of the consolidated financial statements.

How the matter was addressed in the audit
We reviewed IFRS 9 framework (classification) and confirmed loans 
are classified in terms of the group’s business model.
•	 We evaluated the expected credit loss model used by the 

group with specific emphasis on the assumptions used and 
determined whether the expected credit losses on loans have 
been calculated in accordance with the relevant accounting 
standards.

•	 Where management has used experts to determine expected 
credit losses, we assessed their competence, independence, 
professional qualifications, and experience.

•	 We assessed whether the inputs used to calculate the expected 
credit losses by management  are in accordance with the 
group’s IFRS 9 model by comparing the policy requirements 
against what has been applied during the year and assessed 
whether the conclusions reached were appropriate.

•	 We engaged our actuaries to review the Group’s ECL model 
for the financial year end of 31 December 2024. The review 
involved an overall evaluation of the assumptions / judgements 
and methodology used by management to determine the 
impairment provision on loans and advances to customers, 
which included the exposure at default (“EAD”), probability of 
default (“PD”) and loss given default (“LGD”).

•	 We reviewed the inputs into the ECL model for completeness, 
accuracy and validity.

•	 We evaluated the adequacy of the presentation and disclosure 
in relation to this key audit matter given the likelihood of 
management judgement that may be applied.

SNG Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants (Eswatini)
Umkhiwa House
Lot 195 Kai Grant Street, Mbabane PO Box 331 Mbabane, 
Eswatini, H100 
T +268 2405 7000
F +268 2404 1929
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Valuation of Investment property (Note 5)
The disclosure associated with valuation of investment property is 
set out in the following notes:
•	 Note 1.4 - Investment Property accounting policy
•	 Note 5 - Investment property
The investment property is carried at fair value, representing an 
open market value that is determined annually by an independent 
valuation specialist.
The methodology applied by the management is based on the best 
use of the assets as determined from the perspective market 
participants, considering whether such use is physically possible, 
legally permissible and financially feasible. The valuation inputs 
which include the market rate per hectare are based on the most 
recent sales for similar properties in the area.
Investment property has been identified as a key audit matter 
because of the significance of the judgements and estimates that 
are made in determining the fair value of the investment property 
at year end.

Valuation of other financial assets (Note 12)
The disclosure associated with other financial assets is set out in 
the financial statements in the following notes:
•	 Note 1.3 - Significant accounting judgements, Fair value 

estimation
•	 Note 12 - Other financial assets
The investment is carried at fair value. The investment value was 
determined by calculating the underlying fair value of the land that 
is owned by investee and has been identified as a key audit matter 
because of the significance of the judgements and estimates that 
are made in determining the fair value of the investment property 
at year end.

We evaluated the technical competence, objectivity and experience 
of the various individuals that were involved in preparing the 
property valuation.
We engaged our own specialist to review the valuation performed 
by management’s expert as well as perform their own valuation of 
the investment property.
We used our valuation expert to independently assess the 
methodology, key assumptions and yields and evaluate principles 
applied by the Group’s valuator in arriving at the fair value of the 
investment property at year end as follows:
•	 We conducted independent property market research, 

including recent sales of similar properties in Mbabane, 
Manzini and Ezulwini, in order to challenge the inputs into the 
valuation of the investments property at year end; and

•	 Using the independent valuation techniques and our property 
market research, we calculated an average market rate per 
square meter in the area. We compared the results of our 
independently calculated market value to the Group’s fair 
value of investment property to assess reasonableness of the 
fair value recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

We considered the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
and evaluated the relevant accounting disclosures applied for the 
investment property by comparing these to the requirement of IAS 
40, Investment Property.

We evaluated the technical competence, objectivity and experience 
of the various individuals that were involved in preparing the 
property valuation.
We independently assessed the methodology, key assumptions 
and yields and evaluated principles applied by the Group’s valuator 
in arriving at the fair value of the investment property at year end 
as follows:
•	 We conducted independent property market research, 

including recent sales of similar properties in Mbabane, 
Matsapha, Manzini and Ezulwini, in order to challenge the 
inputs into the valuation of the investments property at year 
end;

•	 We assessed the reasonableness of managements 
assumptions concerning projected rental income and 
operating expenses against historical income and operating 
expense data;

•	 We agreed estimated development costs to reports from 
quantity surveyors; and

•	 Using the independent valuation techniques and our property 
market research, we calculated an average market rate per 
square meter in the area. We compared the results of our 
independently calculated market value to the Group’s fair 
value of investment property to assess reasonableness of the 
fair value recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

We considered the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
and evaluated the relevant accounting disclosures applied for the 
Other financial assets by comparing these to the requirement of
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.
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Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document 
titled “SBC Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024”, which includes the group and company detailed 
income statement and Annexure A-Prime interest rates and currencies. The other information does not include the consolidated and 
separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on 
the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of Eswatini, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group and / or the company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and 
separate financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s and the company’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the group and / or the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

SNG Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants (Eswatini)
Per Vusi Nkabindze
Chartered Accountant (Eswatini) 
Registered Auditor

31 March 2025
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SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2024

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2024 2023 2024 2023
Assets
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 3 4 639 489 3 971 469 - -
Right-of-use assets 4 2 973 877 3 757 455 - -
Investment property 5 347 157 525 347 085 871 - -
Goodwill 6 209 448 253 209 448 253 - -
Intangible assets 7 3 932 655 4 796 778 - -
Investments in subsidiaries 8 - - 711 175 088 711 175 088
Investments in joint ventures 9 2 500 000 - - -
Amounts owing by related parties 10 63 000 000 64 282 560 466 669 031 403 771 969
Other financial assets 12 261 351 414 261 351 414 - -
Loans and advances 13 1 049 510 601 1 045 091 545 - -
Deferred tax asset 14 53 484 597 40 596 748 9 980 142 7 111 008
Work in progress 15 9 780 990 1 952 388 - -

2 007 779 401 1 982 334 481 1 187 824 261 1 122 058 065
Current assets
Amounts owing by related parties 10 591 974 034 472 703 667 153 328 484 173 011 560
Trade and other receivables 11 31 495 266 60 265 254 6 649 131 4 960 248
Loans and advances 13 365 704 013 319 527 682 - -
Current tax receivable 17 3 634 070 6 182 708 - -
Loan to contractor 16 12 337 395 11 430 648 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 18 127 028 326 91 275 966 1 276 422 382 805

1 132 173 104 961 385 925 161 254 037 178 354 613
Total Assets 3 139 952 505 2 943 720 406 1 349 078 298 1 300 412 678

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity Attributable to Equity 
Holders of Parent
Share capital 19 348 329 629 348 329 629 348 329 629 348 329 629
Retained earnings 85 517 121 122 531 071 211 313 526 233 078 024

433 846 750 470 860 700 559 643 155 581 407 653
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Amounts owing to related parties 20 243 519 956 288 296 093 20 000 000 55 750 168
Other financial liabilities 21 886 146 528 1 048 979 006 262 583 799 275 259 438
Lease liabilities 4 1 810 460 2 323 026 - -
Deferred income 22 17 256 560 - - -

1 148 733 504 1 339 598 125 282 583 799 331 009 606

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 4 318 522 28 129 479 3 462 22 358
Amounts owing to related parties 20 765 745 218 412 636 973 248 088 027 124 352 088
Other financial liabilities 21 780 001 622 690 716 716 258 759 855 263 620 973
Lease liabilities 4 1 554 702 1 778 413 - -
Deferred income 22 5 752 187 - - -

1 557 372 251 1 133 261 581 506 851 344 387 995 419
Total Liabilities 2 706 105 755 2 472 859 706 789 435 143 719 005 025
Total equity and liabilities 3 139 952 505 2 943 720 406 1 349 078 298 1 300 412 678

The annual financial statements and the notes on pages 10 to 68, were approved by the board of directors on the 24 March 
2025 and were signed on its behalf by:

________________________    ________________________
M M Dlamini    S M Ginindza
The accounting policies on pages 29 to 35 and the notes on pages 36 to 76 form an integral part of the annual financial 
statements.

________________________    ________________________
M M Dlamini    S M Ginindza
________________________    ________________________
M M Dlamini    S M Ginindza
The accounting policies on pages 29 to 35 and the notes on pages 36 to 76 form an integral part of the annual financial 
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SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the 
year ended 31 December 2023

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2024 2023 2024 2023

Income 24 442 800 028 433 954 911 12 440 436 11 290 000
Other (expense)/income 25 (1 657 493) 109 495 13 281 10 356
Movement in credit loss allow-
ances (6 119 368) (1 450 088) - -

Operating expenses (198 786 738) (197 754 837) (18 352 066) (6 121 879)

Operating profit/(loss) 26 236 236 429 234 859 481 (5 898 349) 5 178 477
Investment income 27 75 734 444 88 501 813 79 744 356 354 306 324

Finance costs 28 (303 505 172) (273 339 037) (87 897 739) (74 922 481)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 8 465 701 50 022 257 (14 051 732) 284 562 320
Taxation 29 (12 257 889) (21 078 199) 2 287 234 (1 288 183)

(Loss)/profit for the year (3 792 188) 28 944 058 (11 764 498) 283 274 137

Earnings per share: 
Per share information
Basic and diluted basic 30 (0.04) 0.30 - -

The accounting policies on pages 29 to 35 and the notes on pages 36 to 76 form an integral part of the annual financial 
statements.



26 | SBC Limited | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

Figures in Emalangeni Share capital Share premium Total share capital Retained earnings

Total attributable to equity 
holders of the Group/

Company Non-controlling interest * Total equity 

GROUP 

Balance at 01 January 2023 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 143 587 013 491 916 642 40 485 491 957 127
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 28 944 058 28 944 058 - 28 944 058
Acquisition of shares - - - - - (40 485) (40 485)

Dividends - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) - (50 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) (40 485) (50 040 485)

Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 122 531 071 470 860 700 - 470 860 700
Prior year adjustments* - - - (23 221 762) (23 221 762) - (23 221 762)
Balance at 01 January 2024 as restated 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 99 309 309 447 638 938 - 447 638 938
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (3 792 188) (3 792 188) - (3 792 188)
Dividends - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Balance at 31 December 2024 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 85 517 121 433 846 750 - 433 846 750
Note(s) 19 19 19

Figures in Emalangeni 

Share capital Share premium Total share capital Retained earnings

Total attributable to equity 
holders of the Group/

Company Non-controlling interest * Total equity 

COMPANY 

Balance at 01 January 2023 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 (196 113) 348 133 516 - 348 133 516
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 283 274 137 283 274 137 - 283 274 137
Dividends - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) - (50 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) - (50 000 000)

Balance at 01 January 2024 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 233 078 024 581 407 653 - 581 407 653
Total comprehensive Loss for the year - - - (11 764 498) (11 764 498) - (11 764 498)
Dividends - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Balance at 31 December 2024 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 211 313 526 559 643 155 - 559 643 155
Note(s) 19 19 19

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2024

The accounting policies on pages 29 to 35 and the notes on pages 36 to 76 form an integral part of the annual financial  
statements.

*During the current year an adjustment to retained earnings was made, that referred to a prior year adjustment to  
income and deferred income. In SBC’s prior year financials, this change not effected was not material. See note 22. 
An amount is due to untraceable minorities, amounts attributable to these minorities are insignificant.
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Figures in Emalangeni Share capital Share premium Total share capital Retained earnings

Total attributable to equity 
holders of the Group/

Company Non-controlling interest * Total equity 

GROUP 

Balance at 01 January 2023 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 143 587 013 491 916 642 40 485 491 957 127
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 28 944 058 28 944 058 - 28 944 058
Acquisition of shares - - - - - (40 485) (40 485)

Dividends - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) - (50 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) (40 485) (50 040 485)

Opening balance as previously reported
Adjustments 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 122 531 071 470 860 700 - 470 860 700
Prior year adjustments* - - - (23 221 762) (23 221 762) - (23 221 762)
Balance at 01 January 2024 as restated 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 99 309 309 447 638 938 - 447 638 938
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (3 792 188) (3 792 188) - (3 792 188)
Dividends - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Balance at 31 December 2024 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 85 517 121 433 846 750 - 433 846 750
Note(s) 19 19 19

Figures in Emalangeni 

Share capital Share premium Total share capital Retained earnings

Total attributable to equity 
holders of the Group/

Company Non-controlling interest * Total equity 

COMPANY 

Balance at 01 January 2023 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 (196 113) 348 133 516 - 348 133 516
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 283 274 137 283 274 137 - 283 274 137
Dividends - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) - (50 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (50 000 000) (50 000 000) - (50 000 000)

Balance at 01 January 2024 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 233 078 024 581 407 653 - 581 407 653
Total comprehensive Loss for the year - - - (11 764 498) (11 764 498) - (11 764 498)
Dividends - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised  
directly in equity - - - (10 000 000) (10 000 000) - (10 000 000)

Balance at 31 December 2024 9 649 348 319 980 348 329 629 211 313 526 559 643 155 - 559 643 155
Note(s) 19 19 19
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SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Statement of Cash Flows

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2024 2023 2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) 
operations 31 90 167 589 45 062 067 (8 622 028) (2 354 504)

Interest income 27 4 878 629 88 501 813 191 400 49 998 862

Dividends received 27 - - 10 000 000 30 000 000

Finance costs 28 (178 839 449) (180 436 655) (52 857 785) (39 418 927)

Tax paid 32 (22 597 100) (37 337 098) (581 900) (534 257)

Net cash from operating activities (106 390 331) (84 209 873) (51 870 313) 37 691 174

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment 3 (2 702 328) (1 796 749) - -

Proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment 3 29 184 68 983 - -

Purchases of investment property 5 (7 900 256) (2 124 010) - -

Purchases of intangible assets 7 (1 743 816) (2 876 191) - -

Purchases of joint arrangements 9 (2 500 000) - - -

Net cash from investing activities (14 817 216) (6 727 967) - -

Cash flows from financing activities  

Repayments of loans from group 
and related party companies 20 (232 075 754) (97 669 509) (112 228 420) (104 027 824)

Proceeds of loans from group and 
related party companies 496 984 044 135 200 000 205 812 856 70 000 000

Repayments of other financial 
liabilities 21 (255 111 998) (242 574 610) (90 970 506) (24 744 290)

Proceeds from other financial 
liabilities 21 159 545 539 280 103 109 60 150 000 70 000 000

Repayments of lease liabilities 4 (2 381 924) (1 926 121) - -

Dividends paid 33 (10 000 000) (50 000 000) (10 000 000) (50 000 000)

Net cash from financing activities 156 959 907 23 132 869 52 763 930 (38 772 114)

Total cash movement for the year 35 752 360 (67 804 971) 893 617 (1 080 940)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 91 275 966 159 080 937 382 805 1 463 745

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 18 127 028 326 91 275 966 1 276 422 382 805

 The accounting policies on pages 29 to 35 and the notes on pages 36 to 76 form an integral part of the annual financial 
statements.
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SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Accounting Policies

1. Material accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation 
of these consolidated and separate annual financial 
statements are set out below.
1.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated and separate annual financial statements 
have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance 
with, and in compliance with, International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS Accounting Standards”) and 
International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRS IC”) interpretations issued and effective 
at the time of preparing these annual financial statements 
and the Companies Act.
The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated 
in the accounting policies which follow and incorporate 
the principal accounting policies set out below. They 
are presented in Emalangeni, which is the Group and 
Company’s functional currency.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period.
1.2 Consolidation 
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate 
the annual financial statements of the company and all 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities (including structured 
entities) which are controlled by the Group.
All inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised 
gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated 
subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately 
from the Group’s interest therein, and are recognised 
within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-
controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling 
interest even if this results in a debit balance being 
recognised for non-controlling interest.
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do 
not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions and are recognised directly in the statement 
of changes in equity.
The difference between the fair value of consideration paid 
or received and the movement in non-controlling interest 
for such transactions is recognised in equity attributable to 
the owners of the company.
Business combinations
The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting 
for business combinations including common control 
transactions as referenced in IFRS 3. The consideration 
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary 
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity 
interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair 
value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed 
as incurred. If the Group acquires a controlling interest in a 
business in which it previously held an equity interest, that 
equity interest is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition 
date with any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. 

Consideration transferred as part of a business combination 
does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-
existing relationships. The gain or loss on the settlement of 
any pre-existing relationship is recognised in profit or loss. 
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at 
their acquisition-date fair values.
1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty
The preparation of annual financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to 
time, to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.
Critical judgements in determining the lease term
In determining the lease term, management considers 
all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option: or not exercise 
a termination option. Extension options (or periods after 
termination options) are only included in the lease term 
if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not 
terminated).
The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a 
significant change in circumstances occurs which affects 
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short term nature. The fair value of 
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated 
by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the Group 
for similar financial instruments. The fair value of acquired 
investments are assessed by making use of an independent 
external valuator.
Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for 
income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course 
of business. The Company recognises liabilities based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made.
The Company recognises the net future tax benefit related 
to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of 
deferred income tax assets requires the Company to make 
significant estimates related to expectations of future 
taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are 
based on forecast cash flows from operations and the 
application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the 
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extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ 
significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to 
realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting 
date could be impacted.
Trade receivables
The Company assesses its trade receivables for 
impairment at each reporting date. In determining whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in profit and loss, 
the Company makes judgements as to whether there is 
observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.
Loans and advances
The Group assesses its loans and advances for impairment 
at each reporting date. Estimations and assumptions are 
made to determine the amount of the Expected credit loss 
recognised. Judgements are used to determine whether 
there has been an increase in credit risk and whether a 
financial asset is credit impaired.
The impairment of loans and advances is calculated on 
a portfolio basis, based on expected credit losses, which 
is a weighted average of the current impairment number 
(given current portfolio dynamics), a projected value based 
on favourable conditions and a projected value based on 
unfavourable conditions. These annual loss ratios are 
applied to loan balances based on arrears categories on 
reporting date, such that a 12 month expected credit loss is 
held as impairment for early arrears clients and a lifetime 
credit loss for late stage arrears clients.
Impairment of non-financial assets
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and 
individual assets have been determined based on the 
higher of value- in-use calculations and fair values less 
cost to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates 
and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the 
assumptions made may change which may then impact our 
estimations and may then require a material adjustment to 
the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets.
The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets 
when events or changes in circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, 
goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets 
are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash 
flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets 
and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment 
may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected 
future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future 
cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill 
and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could 
materially change over time. They are significantly affected 
by a number of factors including economic factors such as 
inflation.
1.4 Investment property
Investment properties include land and buildings and 
undeveloped land either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation or both, but not for sale in the ordinary course 
of business or for administration purposes are measured 
initially at cost, including transaction costs.
After initial recognition, investment properties are 
measured at fair value. Fair values are determined 
annually by external independent professional valuers 
and in the case of the external valuators not being used, 
internal valuations are performed and these are audited 
by the use of the auditor’s qualified valuation expert with 

appropriate and recognised professional qualifications and 
recent experience in the location and category of property 
being valued. Valuations are done on the open market value 
basis and the valuers use either the discounted cash flow 
method or the capitalisation of net income method or a 
combination of methods. Gains or losses arising from the 
changes in the fair values are included in profit or loss 
for the period in which they arise. Immediately prior to 
disposal of investment property the investment property is 
revalued to the net sales proceeds and such revaluation is 
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which it 
occurs.
Investment property is maintained, upgraded and 
refurbished, where necessary, in order to preserve and/or 
to improve the capital value. Maintenance and repairs which 
neither materially add value to the properties nor prolong 
their useful lives are recognised in profit or loss. When 
the Group redevelops an existing investment property for 
continued future use as investment property, the property 
is temporarily transferred to investment property under 
development until the completion of the project.
Investment property under development
Property that is being constructed or developed for future 
use as investment property is classified as investment 
property under development and is measured at cost until 
construction or development is complete, at which time it is 
reclassified and subsequently accounted for as investment 
property. To the extent that developments can be accurately 
fair valued, developments are carried at fair value.
All costs directly associated with the purchase and 
construction of a property and all subsequent capital 
expenditures for the development qualifying as acquisition 
costs, are capitalised.
Investment property under development
Property that is being constructed or developed for future 
use as investment property is classified as investment 
property under development and is measured at cost until 
construction or development is complete, at which time it is 
reclassified and subsequently accounted for as investment 
property. To the extent that developments can be accurately 
fair valued, developments are carried at fair value.
All costs directly associated with the purchase and 
construction of a property and all subsequent capital 
expenditures for the development qualifying as acquisition 
costs, are capitalised.
1.5 Property, plant and equipment
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:
	 Depreciation 	 Average 
Item	 method 	 useful life

Plant and machinery	 Straight line	 6 years

Furniture and fixtures	 Straight line	 6 years

Motor vehicles	 Straight line	 5 years

Office equipment	 Straight line	 5 years

IT equipment	 Straight line	 3 years

Leasehold improvements	 Straight line		
		  shorter of useful 	
		  life or lease term

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Accounting Policies
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1.6 Intangible assets		
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible 
assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as 
follows:
	 Depreciation 	 Average 
Item	 method 	 useful life
Computer software	 Straight line	 3 years

1.7 Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. This excludes investments 
which are held for sale and are consequently accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate 
of:
•	 the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, 

liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 
issued by the Company; plus

•	 any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the 
subsidiary.

Dividends declared from subsidiaries are recognised, in 
profit or loss, when the Company’s right to receive payment 
has been established.
1.8 Investments in joint ventures
Investments in joint ventures are carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.
1.9 Financial instruments in joint ventures
Financial instruments held by the Group are classified 
in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. 
Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted 
by the Group, as applicable, are as follows:
Financial assets which are equity instruments:
•	 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or
•	 Designated as at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. (This designation is not 
available to equity instruments which are held for 
trading or which are contingent consideration in a 
business combination).

Financial assets which are debt instruments:
•	 Amortised cost. (This category applies only when 

the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on 
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on principal, and where the 
instrument is held under a business model whose 
objective is met by holding the instrument to collect 
contractual cash flows); or

•	 Fair value through other comprehensive income. (This 
category applies only when the contractual terms of 
the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on principal, and where the instrument is held under 
a business model whose objective is achieved by 
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the 
instruments); or

•	 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. 
(This classification automatically applies to all debt 
instruments which do not qualify as at amortised cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive income); 
or

•	 Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This 
classification option can only be applied when it 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch).

Financial liabilities:
•	 Amortised cost; or
•	 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. (This 

applies to contingent consideration in a business 
combination or to liabilities which are held for trading); 
or

•	 Designated at fair value through profit or loss. (This 
classification option can be applied when it eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch; the 
liability forms part of a group of financial instruments 
managed on a fair value basis; or it forms part of a 
contract containing an embedded derivative and the 
entire contract is designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss).

Note 35 Financial instruments and risk management 
presents the financial instruments held by the Group based 
on their specific classifications.
The specific accounting policies for the classification, 
recognition and measurement of each type of financial 
instrument held by the Group are presented below:
Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit 
losses on all loans receivable measured at amortised cost. 
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective loans.
The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount 
equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL) 
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a loan has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition, then 
the loss allowance for that loan is measured at 12 month 
expected credit losses (12 month ECL).
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will 
result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a loan. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the 
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events on a loan that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date.
In order to assess whether to apply lifetime ECL or 12 
month ECL, in other words, whether or not there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
the Group considers whether there has been a significant 
increase in the risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition rather than at evidence of a loan being credit 
impaired at the reporting date or of an actual default 
occurring.
Write off policy
The Group writes off a loan when there is information 
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. 
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation 
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Loans written 
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the 
group recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in 
profit or loss.
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Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The Group makes use of a provision matrix as a practical 
expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on 
trade and other receivables. The provision matrix is based 
on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the current and forecast 
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the 
time value of money, where appropriate.
The customer base is widespread and does not show 
significantly different loss patterns for different customer 
segments. The loss allowance is calculated on a collective 
basis for all trade and other receivables in totality.
Expected credit losses are recognised in profit or loss with a 
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade 
and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance 
account. Expected credit losses are recognised separately 
on the face of the statement of profit or loss.
Trade and other receivables Classification
Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, 
VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost (note 11).
Recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are recognised when the 
group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
receivables. They are measured, at initial recognition, at 
fair value less transaction costs, if any.
Despite the requirement in paragraph 5.1.1, at initial 
recognition, an entity shall measure trade receivables 
at their transaction price (as defined in IFRS 15) if the 
trade receivables do not contain a significant financing 
component in accordance with IFRS 15 (or when the 
entity applies the practical expedient in accordance with 
paragraph 63 of IFRS 15).
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the 
receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus 
cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective 
interest method of any difference between the initial 
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance.
The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting 
for trade and other receivables as well as contract assets 
and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit 
losses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual 
cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point 
during the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, 
the Group uses its historical experience, external indicators 
and forward-looking information to calculate the expected 
credit losses using a provision matrix. They are initially 
measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.
Amounts owing from related parties/ loans and advances
Classification
These include loans from holding companies, fellow 
subsidiaries and subsidiaries and are recognised initially 
at fair value plus direct transaction costs.
Loans from group companies are classified as financial 
liabilities and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Recognition and measurement
Loans receivable are recognised when the group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans 

are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value less 
transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan 
initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative 
amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method 
of any difference between the initial amount and the 
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Amounts owing to related and non-related parties.
Classification
These include loans from holding companies, and third 
parties, fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries and are 
recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction 
costs.
Loans from group companies are classified as financial 
liabilities and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Recognition and measurement
Borrowings and loans from related parties are recognised 
when the group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial 
recognition, at fair value less transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability.
Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest 
method, is included in profit or loss in finance costs (note 
28.)

Other payables
Classification
These consist of trade payables and accrued expenses 
which are initially measured at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs.
Recognition and measurement
They are recognised when the group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial 
recognition, at fair value less transaction costs, if any.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability.
If trade and other payables contain a significant financing 
component, and the effective interest method results in the 
recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit 
or loss in finance costs (note 28).

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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Trade and other payables expose the Group to liquidity 
risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 35 for 
details of risk exposure and management thereof.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents classified at amortised cost 
comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other 
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Derecognition Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. 
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts 
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset 
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.
Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred 
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded 
in active markets at each reporting date is determined 
by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price 
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for 
short positions), without any deduction for transaction 
costs.
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, 
the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques. Such techniques may include: 
•	 Using recent arm’s length market transactions.
•	 Reference to the current fair value of another 

instrument that is substantially the same.
•	 A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation 

models.
1.10	 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent 
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent 
unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid 
in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount 
due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid 
to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary 
differences:
A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset 
is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable 
profit (tax loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward 
of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits 
can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.
Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an 
expense and included in profit or loss for the year.
Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited 
directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited 
or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in 
equity.
1.11	 Impairment of non financial assets
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period 
whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the asset.
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment, the Group also:
•	 tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful 

life or intangible assets not yet available for use 
for impairment annually by comparing its carrying 
amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment 
test is performed during the annual period and at the 
same time every period.

•	 tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for 
impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 
recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a 
revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.
An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating 
units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than 
the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is 
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the 
unit in the following order:
•	 first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the cash-generating unit and



34 | SBC Limited | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

•	 then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the 
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist 
or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset other than 
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior periods.
1.12 Share capital and equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities.
If the Company reacquires its own equity instruments, those 
instruments are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
Consideration paid or received shall be recognised directly 
in equity.
1.13 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable 
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 
vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary 
benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period 
in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised 
as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-
accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.
The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments 
is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result 
of past performance.
1.14	 Revenue
Revenue is recognised from contracts with customers 
Revenue is recognised from contracts with customers 
under the scope of IFRS 15 as it transfers goods or services 
to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange 
for those services. The 5 step approach is applied to 
revenue recognition under IFRS 15. Revenue is recognised 
when a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a 
promised asset to the customer or performing the promised 
service. Control includes the ability to prevent others from 
directing the use of and obtaining the benefits from the 
asset. If we do not satisfy our performance obligation over 
time, it satisfies it at a point in time and revenue will be 
recognised when control is passed or service performed at 
that point in time.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amounts 
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal 
course of business, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates, and value added tax.
Service revenue is recognised over time by reference to the 
rental agreements for the monthly transactions during the 
current reporting period.
Interest income earned from investment activities 

are recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective 
interest method on the requirements of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments.
The Group is party to leasing contracts as the lessor of 
property. All leases are operating leases, which are those 
leases where the Group retains a significant portion of the 
risks and rewards of ownership. Rental is recognised at a 
point in time based on actual amounts due in terms of the 
lease agreement in respect of any particular year.
Loan and book administration fee are recognised as the 
related services performed over the period of the loan, 
in terms of IFRS 9 and is excluded from IFRS 15 revenue 
recognition.
Management fees are charged for services provided to 
group companies.
Rental is recognised over time based on actual amounts 
due in terms of the lease agreement in respect of any 
particular period. Rental income is accounted for in terms 
of IFRS 16.
1.15	 Translation of foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial 
recognition in Emalangenis, by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the spot exchange rate between the 
functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of 
the transaction.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of 
monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on 
initial recognition during the period or in previous annual 
financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.
Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign 
currency are recorded in Emalangenis by applying to the 
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the 
Emalangeni and the foreign currency at the date of the 
cash flow.
1.16	 Comparative information
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted 
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.
2.	 New Standards and Interpretations
2.1	 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted 
in the current year
In the current year, the Group has adopted the following 
standards and interpretations that are effective for the 
current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:
Supplier finance arrangements - amendments to IAS 7 
and IFRS 7
The amendment applies to circumstances where supplier 
finance arrangements exist. These are arrangements 
whereby finance providers pay the suppliers of the entity, 
thus providing the entity with extended payment terms or 
the suppliers with early payment terms. The entity then 
pays the finance providers based on their specific terms 
and conditions. The amendment requires the disclosure 
of information about supplier finance arrangements that 
enable users of financial statements to assess the effects 
of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash 
flows as well as on the entity’s exposure to liquidity risk.
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 
on or after 01 January 2024.
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The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time 
in the 2024 annual financial statements. The impact of the 
amendment was assessed as immaterial.
Non-current liabilities with covenants - amendments to 
IAS 1
The amendment applies to the classification of liabilities 
with loan covenants as current or non-current. If an entity 
has the right to defer settlement of a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period, but subject to 
conditions, then the timing of the required conditions 
impacts whether the entity has a right to defer settlement. 
If the conditions must be complied with at or before the 
reporting date, then they affect whether the rights to defer 
settlement exists at reporting date. However, if the entity 
is only required to comply with the conditions after the 
reporting period, then the conditions do not affect whether 
the right to defer settlement exists at reporting date. If 
an entity classifies a liability as non-current when the 
conditions are only required to be met after the reporting 
period, then additional disclosures are required to enable 
the users of financial statements to understand the risk 
that the liabilities could become repayable within twelve 
months after the reporting period.
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 
on or after 01 January 2024.
The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time 
in the 2024 annual financial statements. The impact of the 
amendment was assessed as immaterial.
2.2	 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following 
standards and interpretations, which have been published 
and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 01 January 2025 or later period:
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution 
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture
If a parent loses control of a subsidiary which does not 
contain a business, as a result of a transaction with an 
associate or joint venture, then the gain or loss on the 
loss of control is recognised in the parents’ profit or loss 
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interest in the 
associate or joint venture. The remaining gain or loss is 
eliminated against the carrying amount of the investment 
in the associate or joint venture. The same treatment is 
followed for the measurement to fair value of any remaining 
investment which is itself an associate or joint venture. If 
the remaining investment is accounted for in terms of IFRS 
9, then the measurement to fair value of that interest is 
recognised in full in the parents’ profit or loss.
The effective date of the amendment is to be determined 
by the IASB.
It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material 
impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.
Lack of exchangeability - amendments to IAS 21
The amendments apply to currencies which are not 
exchangeable. The definition of exchangeable is provided 
as being when an entity is able to obtain the other currency 
within a time frame that allows for a normal administrative 
delay and through a market or exchange mechanism in 
which an exchange transaction would create enforceable 
rights and obligations. The amendments require an entity 
to estimate the spot exchange rate at measurement date 
when a currency is not exchangeable into another currency. 

Additional disclosures are also required to enable users 
of financial statements to understand the impact of the 
non-exchangeability on financial performance, financial 
position and cash flow.
The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 
on or after 01 January 2025.
The Group expects to adopt the amendment for the first 
time in the 2025 annual financial statements.
It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material 
impact on the Group’s annual financial statements.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements
IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements. The new standard introduces the following key 
new requirements:
•	 Entities are required to classify all income and 

expenses into five categories in the statement of profit 
or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, 
discontinued operations and income tax categories. 
Entities are also required to present a newly-defined 
operating profit subtotal. Entities’ net profit will not 
change.

•	 Management-defined performance measures 
(MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in the financial 
statements.

•	 Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group 
information in the financial statements. In addition, 
all entities are required to use the operating profit 
subtotal as the starting point for the statement of cash 
flows when presenting operating cash flows under the 
indirect method.

•	 The standard applies for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The Company is still in the process of assessing the 
impact of the new standard, particularly with respect to 
the structure of the Company’s statement of profit or loss, 
the statement of cash flows and the additional disclosures 
required for MPMs. The Company is also assessing the 
impact on how information is grouped in the financial 
statements, including for items currently labelled as 
‘other’.
IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without public Accountability: 
Disclosures
IFRS 19 allows for certain eligible subsidiaries of parent 
entities that report under IFRS Accounting Standards 
to apply reduced disclosure requirements. The reduced 
disclosure requirements balance the information needs of 
the users of eligible subsidiaries’ financial statements with 
cost savings for preparers. IFRS 19 is a voluntary standard 
for eligible subsidiaries.
A subsidiary is eligible if:
•	 it does not have public accountability; and
•	 it has an ultimate or intermediate parent that produces 

consolidated financial statements available for public 
use that comply with IFRS Accounting Standards.

The standard applies for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
The Company does not expect this standard to have an 
impact on its operations or financial statements.
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Figures in Emalangeni 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

GROUP
Cost 

Accumulated 
depreciation Carrying value Cost 

Accumulated 
depreciation Carrying value

Plant and machinery 577 715 (109 988) 467 727 565 009 (53 275) 511 734

Furniture and fixtures 2 729 459 (1 515 384) 1 214 075 2 143 795 (1 242 230) 901 565

Motor vehicles 3 826 301 (2 195 864) 1 630 437 3 076 324 (1 732 969) 1 343 355

Office equipment 1 226 484 (958 676) 267 808 1 146 091 (718 952) 427 139

IT equipment 4 482 506 (3 832 036) 650 470 3 941 853 (3 216 042) 725 811

Leasehold improvements 5 714 392 (5 305 420) 408 972 5 090 424 (5 028 559) 61 865

Total 18 556 857 (13 917 368) 4 639 489 15 963 496 (11 992 027) 3 971 469

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 31 December 2024

3.	 Property, plant and equipment

Opening balance Additions Depreciation Total
Plant and machinery 511 734 12 706 (56 713) 467 727
Furniture and fixtures 901 565 585 664 (273 154) 1 214 075
Motor vehicles 1 343 355 841 977 (554 895) 1 630 437
Office equipment 427 139 80 394 (239 725) 267 808
IT equipment 725 811 557 619 (632 960) 650 470
Leasehold improvements 61 865 623 968 (276 861) 408 972

3 971 469 2 702 328 (2 034 308) 4 639 489

Opening balance Additions Disposal Depreciation Total
Plant and machinery 144 077 406 905 - (39 248) 511 734
Furniture and fixtures 745 381 348 911 - (192 727) 901 565
Motor vehicles 1 392 821 397 149 - (446 615) 1 343 355
Office equipment 581 082 107 886 - (261 829) 427 139
IT equipment 875 015 464 054 (7 084) (606 174) 725 811
Leasehold improvements - 71 844 - (9 979) 61 865

3 738 376 1 796 749 (7 084) (1 556 572) 3 971 469

Items of property, plant and equipment with NBV nil were disposed at a gain of E29 184 during the year under review.

In prior year, items of IT equipment costing E 74 290 with a net book value of E 7 084 were disposed at a gain E 61 899.

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 31 December 2023
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4.	 Leases (Group as lessee)
The Group leases rental space.
Details pertaining to leasing arrangements, where the Group is lessee are presented below:

Group - 31 December 2024

Right-of-use asset

No of right-
of-use assets 

leased

Range of
remaining

term

Average
remaining

lease term

No of leases
with 

extension 
options

No of leases
with options 
to purchase

No of leases
with variable

payments 
linked to an 

index

No of leases
with

termination
options

Premises 15 1 to 5 years 3 years 15 - - 15

Group - 31 December 2023

Right-of-use asset

No of right-
of-use assets 

leased

Range of
remaining

term

Average
remaining

lease term

No of leases
with 

extension 
options

No of leases
with options 
to purchase

No of leases
with variable

payments 
linked to an 

index

No of leases
with

termination
options

Premises 15 1 to 5 years 3 years 15 - - 15

Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023

GROUP
Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation Carrying value Cost 

Accumulated 
depreciation Carrying value

Premises 7 053 251 (4 079 374) 2 973 877 6 480 042 (2 722 587) 3 757 455

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

The right-of-use assets can be reconciled as follows:

Right-of-use asset 14 559 677 13 831 899 - -

Accumulated depreciation at 01 January (10 802 222) (8 843 852) - -

Carrying amount as at 01 January 3 757 455 4 988 047

Additions 1 289 507 2 560 199

Depreciation (2 073 085) (1 958 370) - -

Termination - (1 832 421)

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2 973 877 3 757 455 - -

Other disclosures
Interest expense on lease liabilities 356 213 407 245 - -

Leases of low value assets included in operating 
expenses

866 674 445 357 - -

Lease liabilities
Non-current liabilities 1 810 460 2 323 026 - -

Current liabilities 1 554 702 1 778 413 - -

3 365 162 4 101 439 - -
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5.	 Investment property

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Opening fair value of property assets 347 085 871 344 961 861 - -

Movement in work in progress - 262 222 - -

Development expenditure 71 654 1 861 788 - -

347 157 525 347 085 871 - -

Cost 264 237 765 264 166 111 - -

Cumulative fair value surplus 82 919 760 82 919 760 - -

347 157 525 347 085 871 - -

Investment property is comprised of the remaining extent of Portion 52, measuring 3.8303 hectares; and Portion 71, measuring 37.0208 
hectares. Both portion 52 and 71 consists of the original Portion 28, of Farm No 65 situated in the district of Manzini, Eswatini.

Investment property is carried at fair value, representing an open market value determined annually by external valuers and in the 
event of an external valuator not used, the valuation will be done internally and audited. These valuations are reviewed annually by the 
directors of Pine Acres (Pty) Limited. The methodology applied in the valuation is based on the best use of the assets as determined 
from the perspective of a market participant. In determining the best use of asset, the entity considered whether such use is physically 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. The method of valuation for the buildings is income based and compared to other 
similar properties capitalised annually as expected and as a norm at the lapse of each lease term. Although the yield at the beginning 
of each lease is determined by the market at that particular time an average yield of 8 % to 9 % per annum is used. The most significant 
unobservable input to the fair value calculation of the investment property is the market related rate per square meter, which was valued 
at E650m2 (2023: E650m2). The unused land has been valued at a prevailing rate taking into account that the land is either commercial 
or residential, benchmarking it against actual sale prices achieved on similar land in areas including Malkerns, Ezulwini and Manzini. 
Changes in fair value are recognised as gains in profit or loss. All gains are unrealised.

When measuring the fair value of its investment property, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are 
categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). The fair value measurement 
hierarchy of the Group’s investment property is classified under Level 3.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

The lease liabilities can be reconciled as follows:

Opening lease liabilities 4 101 439 5 299 782 - -

Interest on lease 356 211 407 244 - -

Lease rental payments (2 381 924) (2 169 064)

Additions 1 289 436 2 560 199 - -

Termination - (1 996 722)

Closing lease liabilities 3 365 162 4 101 439 - -
Interest on lease liabilities has been disclosed in note 28.

Lease maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted 
cash flows.

Less than one year 1 858 750 1 910 854 - -

1 to 5 years 2 057 334 2 449 383 - -

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at end of the 
year 3 916 084 4 360 237 - -

4.	 Leases (Group as lessee) (continued)

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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Malkerns Square property has been pledged as security for a E 71 million loan taken out by the Company from Nedbank Eswatini.

The prior year valuation was performed by an independent external valuator Springbok Property Valuations, by means of a full valuations 
report. Springbok Property Valuations is also on the registered valuators list in Eswatini used by the four major banks. The valuation 
performed by the external valuator was deemed in-accordance with the fair value disclosed per the Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the value was still deemed appropriate due to the observable inputs remaining unchanged 
with no material change in the property market observed in Eswatini during the 2024 year.

The pieces of vacant land have been valued based on the proposed sizes and interpreted in that context from the supplied maps some of 
which plots have been consolidated. The basic approach was comparable sales in the Malkerns town and Ezulwini.

The approach on the buildings have also been based on comparable sales in Manzini and Mbabane respectively and with structures in 
Ezulwini. The value is mostly influenced by the rental / income method.

Certain assumptions are used in the valuation of investment property. The estimated fair value would increase if the expected market 
rental growth was higher, expected expense growth was lower, the demand for residential rental property was higher, and/or the discount 
rate was lower. In each case the opposite would also apply.

Valuations reflect, when appropriate the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for meeting lease commitments or likely 
to be in occupation after letting vacant accommodation and the market’s general perception of their creditworthiness, the allocation of 
maintenance and insurance responsibilities between the Group and the lessee and the remaining economic life of the property.

Figures in Emalangeni 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

GROUP
Cost

Carrying
 value Cost 

Carrying 
value

Goodwill 209 448 253 209 448 253 209 448 253 209 448 253

Reconciliation of goodwill - Group - 31 December 2024
 Opening 

Balance Total

Goodwill 209 448 253 209 448 253

Reconciliation of goodwill - Group - 31 December 2023
Opening 
balance Total

Goodwill 209 448 253 209 448 253

Impairment testing

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to cash-generating unit (“CGU”) as follows:

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Select Limited 209 448 253 209 448 253 - -

Goodwill relates to the acquisition of Select Limited by SBC Limited. The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether there are 
any indications that goodwill may be impaired. The recoverable amount is determined based on value in use calculations.

The recoverable amount of the above CGU has been determined from value in use calculations based on cash flow projections from 
formally approved budgets covering a five year period to 31 December 2029. The key average assumptions used for the CGU:

Discount rate	 10.83 %

Average PBT margin	 12.17 %

Average Cash generation margin	 49.93 %

Perpetual growth rate	 3.50 %

Sensitivity analysis	

The Group has conducted an analysis of the sensitivity of the impairment test to changes in the key assumptions used to determine the 
recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated. The directors believe that any reasonable possible change (10% increase/
decrease) in the enterprise value on which the recoverable amounts of Select Limited is based would not cause the aggregate carrying 
amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the related CGU.

6.	 Goodwill

5.	 Investment property (continued)
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Name of company % holding 2024 % holding 2023
Carrying 

amount 2024
Carrying 

amount 2023

Direct:
Pine Acres (Pty) Limited 100.00 % 100.00 % 20 466 848 20 466 848

Select Limited 99.00 % 99.00 % 404 708 240 404 708 240

Lesana Lesotho Limited 100.00 % 100,00 % 286 000 000 286 000 000

711 175 088 425 175 088

The Company holds 99.99% (2023: 99.99%) in Select Limited and 100% in Lesana Lesotho Limited (2023: 100%), both entities providing 
microfinance services in Eswatini and Lesotho, respectively. The Company also holds 100% of Pine Acres (Pty) Limited (2023: 100%), 
which in turn is a residential and retail property company that derives its income from rental income out of investment property.

Select Ltd’s disposal of its investment in Lesana Lesotho Limited to SBC Limited:

During the prior year, Select Limited disposed of its 100% investment in Lesana Lesotho Limited carried at historical cost of E25m to 
SBC Limited at fair value of E286m. Select Limited recognised a profit from the sale of its investment of E261m. This profit was utilised to 
declare a dividend of E261m to its shareholder, SBC Limited, to partially offset the purchase consideration of E286m owed by Select Ltd 
to SBC Ltd. No goodwill arose from the transaction.

Name of company % holding 2024 % holding 2023
Carrying 

amount 2024
Carrying 

amount 2023

LivPadel (Pty) Ltd 100.00 % -% 2 500 000 -

During the 2024 year, Pine Acres, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement where a 50% equity stake in 
LivPadel (Pty) Ltd was acquired for E2,500,000. LivPadel will operate a Padel business that will be situated in Malkerns Estate (Investment 
Property held in Pine Acres), which will further increase the value offering of Malkerns.

Liv Padel will be jointly controlled between Pine Acres and the other shareholder, after the below facts was assessed:

•	 50/50% shareholding between Pine Acres and the other 
Shareholder

•	 Both shareholders’ will contribute 50/50% in the 
development and the initial capital outlay, via equal 
shareholder loans, on equal terms.

•	 Joint signing on the bank accounts.
•	 Joint budget and strategy approval.
•	 Any future changes to the business model will be per approval of both 

shareholders.

The Joint Venture will therefore be accounted for using the equity method in accordance with IAS28.

The E2,500,000 purchase consideration was concluded based on the value of the other shareholders experience in constructing, managing 
and growing Padel business’s. The other shareholder owns and manages several other Padel business in South Africa for the past 2 years 
and experienced strong growth and financial performance. The discounted cashflow valuation methodology was used to calculate a 
conservative valuation of the business that translated in the agreed purchase consideration.

As at 31 December 2024, Liv Padel was still dormant with the construction of the Padel facilities to commence in early 2025. Once 
construction and trading commence in 2025, Pine Acres will account for these transactions using the equity method.

8.	 Investments subsidiary

9.	 Joint arrangements

7.	 Intangible assets

Figures in Emalangeni 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

GROUP
Cost 

Accumulated 
amortisation Carrying value Cost 

Accumulated 
amortisation Carrying value

Computer software 16 613 466 (12 680 811) 3 932 655 14 869 650 (10 072 872) 4 796 778

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 31 December 2024
Opening 
balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 4 796 778 1 743 816 (2 607 939) 3 932 655

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 31 December 2023
Opening 
balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 4 519 043 2 876 191 (2 598 456) 4 796 778

The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the Group.

Joint ventures

The following table lists the joint ventures in the Group.

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Non-current
Pine Acres (Proprietary) Limited - - 466 669 031 403 771 969

The loan bears interest at 12%. This loan has been 
subordinated.

African Alliance Eswatini Limited - 1 282 560 - -

The promissory note bears interest at prime rate 
minus 1% and matures on 28 December 2025.

Select Advisors Proprietary Limited 63 000 000 63 000 000 - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 12.75% 
and matures not later than 30 June 2026.

63 000 000 64 282 560 466 669 031 403 771 969
Current
Select Limited - - 35 392 599 48 291 723

The loan bears interest at 12.75 % p.a.

African Alliance Advisory (Pty) Limited 34 580 335 30 671 082 34 580 335 30 671 082

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 13.5% 
and matures not later than 25 July 2025.

Matsapha Link (Proprietary) Limited 12 832 945 11 557 945 12 832 945 11 557 945

The loan bears interest at 12.75%.

Select Africa Limited 24 593 970 21 557 586 24 593 970 21 557 586

The loan bears interest at 13.25%.

Manzini Arch (Pty) Limited 22 930 198 21 149 085 - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 11.50%. 
The loan is repayable not later than 31 December 
2025.

Select Advisors Proprietary Limited 79 340 162 43 321 390 - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 12.75%.

Matsapha Link (Proprietary) Limited 4 681 195 4 129 721 - -

African Alliance Eswatini Limited - 154 316 - -

The loan bears interest at 13%.

Moor Properties (Proprietary) Limited 101 306 263 93 525 727 - -

The loan bears interest at 8% (2023:13.25%).

General Africa Foods Eswatini (Pty) Ltd 6 068 5 337 - -

Vidastyle Botswana (Pty) Limited - 46 449 - -

Select Africa Finance Limited 262 400 590 183 824 571 - -

The loan bears interest at 13.25%.

African Alliance Advisory (Pty) Limited - 60 933 224 - 60 933 224

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 11.60% 
and matures not later than 24 January 2024.

Manzini Arch (Pty) Limited 598 164 526 079 - -

Afri Pack (Pty) Limited 315 365 277 361 - -

PaknSave (Pty) Limited - 100 - -

Ezabeni Property Holdings (Pty) Limited 1 039 999 914 669 - -

Afri Pack General SA (Pty) Limited 122 390 109 025 - -

10.	Amounts owing by related parties
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Current (continued)
African Alliance Eswatini Limited 1 297 755 - - -

The promissory note bears interest at prime rate 
minus 1% and matures on 28 December 2025.

African Alliance Advisory (Pty) Limited 45 928 635 - 45 928 635 -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 11.60% 
and matures not later than 24 January 2025.

591 974 034 472 703 667 153 328 484 173 011 560

10.	Amounts owing by related parties (continued)

Split between non-current and current portions
Non-current assets 63 000 000 64 282 560 466 669 031 403 771 969

Current assets 591 974 034 472 703 667 153 328 484 173 011 560

654 974 034 536 986 227 619 997 515 576 783 529

Unless specified, the loans are current, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. Interest is charged at 2% over the prime interest 
rate of the lender’s functional currency.
All amounts owing by related parties are receivables in Emalangeni.

11.	 Trade and other receivables 
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Financial Instruments:
Trade receivables 7 268 245 24 798 054 - 2 746

Loss allowance (12 341) (87 954) - -

Trade receivables at amortised cost 7 255 904 24 710 100 - 2 746

Deposits 291 910 291 910 16 994 16 994

Other receivables - 10 779 438 - -

Non-financial Instruments:
VAT 141 374 - - -

Withholding tax - - 2 699 16 825

Prepayments 23 806 078 24 483 806 6 629 438 4 923 683

Total trade and other receivables 31 495 266 60 265 254 6 649 131 4 960 248

12.	 Other financial assets

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

At fair value through profit or loss
Ezabeni Property Holdings (Pty) Limited - (formerly 
Cultural City Developments (Pty) Limited)

261 351 403 261 351 403 - -

237 shares (10.12%) stated at nominal value of E 511 
640 each.

Malkerns (Swaziland) Irrigation and Development 
Corporation Limited

1 1 - -

185 shares (1.85%) stated at nominal value of E 1.

At historical cost price
Access Financial Services PLC 10 10 - -

Select Limited holds 0.01% in Access Financial 
Services PLC.

261 351 414 261 351 414 - -

Included in trade receivables is a gross lease receivables of E 122 153 with a corresponding provision for bad debt of E 99 305. The net lease 
receivable for the year ended 31 December 2024 was E 23 227.

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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13.	Loans and advances

Due to the lack of other quantitative or qualitative indicators which would allow for meaningful identification of Significant Increase in 
Credit Risk (SICR), days in arrears is utilised as the sole indicator for Significant Increase in Credit Risk.

Specifically, the IFRS 9 requirement to use a 30 days in arrears indicator as a “backstop” for identification of Stage 2 accounts was im-
plemented. Similarly, any individual account with arrears greater than 90 days was placed in Stage 3 – aligning to the Basel definition of 
default of 90 days past due. Stage 1 accounts are consequently any up to date account, as well as accounts up to 30 days in arrears. Stage 
2 refers to accounts which are 31 to 90 days past due and Stage 3 includes all accounts greater than 90 days past due. Arrears information 
is stored at an account level within the operation loan system and thus readily available for all related calculations.

The following table represents categorisation of the gross loan book into stages 1 - 3.

Net rental income is a significant unobservable input although a change of 5%-10% is not determined to be significant and therefore it is 
insensitive.

Select Ltd’s acquisition of a 10.51% equity stake in Ezabeni Property Holdings (Pty) Limited, during the prior year.
In line of the strategic intent of the African Alliance Group to diversify from finance activities to retail and property, African Alliance Limited 
(“AAL”) and its subsidiaries have entered into a number of large property transactions in 2020 to effect the strategic intent. These property 
transactions are the final outcome of many years of activities and structuring to assemble a significant high quality property portfolio in 
Eswatini. It is our view that property activities in Africa will become increasingly important for the Group into the future. Already, the Select 
Group has developed a large number of rental properties in the last few years. In 2020, it was the turn of the African Alliance brand to 
invest significantly in retail and property. On 30 June 2023, based on a valuation of the total value of Ezabeni Property Holdings (“Ezabeni”), 
Select Limited executed an investment of E261m equating to a 10.51% shareholding in Ezabeni. Select management was comfortable with 
the initial buy-in to this investment and is confident that future growth will be extracted from this investment which is further aligned to 
the Select Group’s long term property strategy.
The Group’s finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 fair values, in 
consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations. Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics 
of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising the use of market-based information. The finance team reports directly to 
the chief financial officer (CFO) and to the audit committee. Valuation processes and fair value changes are discussed among the audit 
committee and the valuation team at least every year, in line with the Group’s annual reporting dates.
The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s other financial assets is classified under Level 3.
The fair value of the investment in Ezabeni is directly linked to the properties owned by the various subsidiaries in the Ezabeni group.
The fair value remained unchanged from the prior year, as no material change was observed in the below inputs compared to the prior 
year.
The following table provides information about the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs used and information about the 
sensitivity of the fair value measurements to changes in the most significant inputs.

11.	 Other financial assets (continued)

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Non-current assets 1 049 510 601 1 045 091 545 - -

Current assets (42 836 432) 319 527 682 - -

1 415 214 614 1 364 619 227 - -

Description Valuation method
Significant  
unobservable input

Estimate of 
the input

Sensitivity of the fair value measurement 
to input

Property 1 Market approach Rate per square meter E 320 A 10% change would increase / (decrease) 
fair value by E23 203 790

Property 2 Income approach Capitalisation rate 8.30% An increase by 100 basis points would 
decrease the fair value by E14,053,987. 
A decrease by 100 basis points would 
increase the fair value by E17 904 394

Property 3 Residual method Development cost per 
square meter

E 959 A 10% change would increase/(decrease) 
fair value by E 40 518 668
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GROUP – 31 December 2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross carrying amount 1 January 2023 1 246 767 794 15 492 660 30 729 774 1 292 990 228

Loans advanced during the period 474 044 651 19 417 294 474 064 362

Loans repaid during the period (750 817 769) (9 516 194) (5 959 817) (766 293 780)

Bad debt write offs (5 317 196) (1 646 632) (8 672 356) (15 636 184)

Accounts migrating from Stage 1 to 2 (26 141 908) 26 141 908 - -

Accounts migrating from Stage 1 to 3 (11 632 298) - 11 632 298 -

Accounts migrating from Stage 2 to 3 - (2 596 195) 2 596 195 -

Accounts migrating from Stage 3 to 2 - 22 116 (22 116) -

Accounts migrating from Stage 3 to 1 - 745 268 (745 268) -

Accounts migrating from Stage 2 to 1 920 319 (920 319) - -

Interest income 415 596 335 855 553 1 284 010 417 735 898

Gross carrying amount 31 December 2023 1 343 419 928 28 597 582 30 843 014 1 402 860 524

Movement in provision for credit losses on loans and advances
Balance at start of the period 38 241 297 38 512 533 - -

Charge/(credit) to profit or loss 4 595 135 (271 236) - -

Closing balance 42 836 432 38 241 297 - -

Eswatini
The Eswatini environment is relatively mature and stable with few expected changes. The majority of its customer base is employed by 
Government. With this being the major driver of the ability of Select’s customers to service their loans, the macro economic factors which 
might impact on the ability of Select to collect its book are stable and not expected to vary from those previously experienced. Due to the 
growth (approximately 50%) of the higher yielding short term products in Select Limited during the year under review, the overall provision 

The Group makes unsecured loans to individuals who are employees of approved institutions. The Group has agreements with the institu-
tions to the effect that the institutions will deduct monthly repayments from the employees’ salaries on behalf of the companies in the 
Group. The Group also makes unsecured loans to retail clients whose monthly repayments are collected by either debit order or standing 
order.
The advances are on terms ranging from three to sixty months and are repaid by equal monthly repayments of capital and interest on an 
amortised basis, over the repayment term of the advances. Interest is charged in compliance with prevailing legislation.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Advances outstanding at end of period 1 458 051 046 1 402 860 524 - -

Provision for credit losses on loans and advances (42 836 432) (38 241 297) - -

1 415 214 614 1 364 619 227 - -

13.	Loans and advances (continued)

GROUP – 31 December 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross carrying amount 1 January 2024 1 343 419 928 28 597 582 30 843 014 1 402 860 524

Loans advanced during the period 431 759 984 8 226 349 - 439 986 333

Loans repaid during the period (777 819 323) (6 374 287) (6 596 112) (790 789 722)

Bad debt write offs (3 920 949) (3 902 879) (10 014 297) (17 838 125)

Accounts migrating from Stage 1 to 2 (10 940 417) 10 940 417 - -

Accounts migrating from Stage 1 to 3 (16 675 624) - 16 675 624 -

Accounts migrating from Stage 2 to 3 - (4 505 598) 4 505 598 -

Accounts migrating from Stage 3 to 2 - 437 692 (437 692) -

Accounts migrating from Stage 3 to 1 449 251 - (449 251) -

Accounts migrating from Stage 2 to 1 678 262 (678 262) - -

Interest income 415 290 384 6 597 506 1 944 146 423 832 036

Gross carrying amount 31 December 2024 1 382 241 496 39 338 520 36 471 030 1 458 051 046

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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During the year under review, the individual deferred tax asset classes were adjusted to take into account the change in future Eswatini 
tax rate from 27.5% to 25%, effective from the 2025 financial year.

13.	Loans and advances (continued)

15.	Work in progress 

14.	Deferred tax asset

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Deferred tax asset
Impairment for credit losses of loans and advances 8 944 937 8 472 814 - -

Prepayments (3 087 500) (3 053 196) - -

Tax losses available for set off against future income 67 927 600 56 986 755 9 980 142 6 114 933

Fair value gain on investment property (20 729 940) (22 805 700) - -

Increase in tax losses - 996 075 - 996 075

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 429 500 - - -

53 484 597 40 596 748 9 980 142 7 111 008

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Opening work in progress 1 952 388 169 203 - -

Transferred to Investment Property - (262 222) - -

Development expenditure 7 828 602 2 045 407 - -

9 780 990 1 952 388 - -

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset
At beginning of period 40 596 748 32 273 638 7 111 008 6 114 933

Impairment for credit losses of loans and advances 472 123 (1 781 077) - -

Prepayments (34 304) 7 284 182 - -

Tax losses available for set off against future income 9 944 770 2 822 770 2 869 134 996 075

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 2 505 260 (2 765) - -

53 484 597 40 596 748 9 980 142 7 111 008

Work in progress includes advance payments under agreement to construction contractors.

for credit losses on loans and advances increased, due to a higher ECL provision coupled to this product grouping. An ECL provision of 
approximately 10% on these product grouping is however still market related and deemed as appropriate. The distressed loan book has 
performed particularly well and has allowed much of this book to move back into a performing category. Certain market practices which 
gave rise to much of this distressed loan have been discontinued as a result of a regulatory intervention. This has allowed the directors to 
assess the collection environment as stable.
Lesotho
The stability experienced in collections in recent years continued in 2024. The existing impairment coverage is considered suitable for the 
trading conditions expected in the near future. Management is therefore of the view that there is normal upside and downside risk in future 
scenarios for the Lesotho business which are adequately addressed by the normal up and downside risk weightings.
Fair values
The discounted cash flows were calculated by taking the monthly instalment due, multiplied by the remaining term of the loan. These 
expected cash flows are discounted back to the present value using a market related rate. Given this, the fair value of the loan book equals 
the carrying amount.
The contractual amount outstanding on financial assets that were written off during the year ended 31 December 2024 and that are still 
subject to enforcement activity for the Group are E 17 838 125 (2023: E 15 636 184). A slight increase in accounts written off in the current 
year compared to the prior were as a result of loans and advances becoming uncollectable. This was due to a high number of government 
employees “semi-grating” to Taiwan on a temporary basis due to work visa’s not being required between Eswatini and Taiwan. We did 
however notice this trend to subside since quarter 4 of the year under review.

Work in progress relates to the pre-construction cost in Pine Acres relating to its residential and retail developments that started in 2024. 
The developments are planned to be finalised during 2025/26, the work and progress will then be capitalised to Investment property, when 
ready for use.



46 | SBC Limited | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 

17.	Current tax receivable

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Tax balance 3 634 070 6 182 708 - -

Other tax - - - -

3 634 070 6 182 708 - -
Net current tax receivable
Current assets 3 634 070 6 182 708 - -

Current liabilities - - - -

3 634 070 6 182 708 - -

18.	 Cash and cash equivalents 

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 4 973 9 156 - -

Bank balances 127 023 353 91 266 810 1 276 422 382 805

127 028 326 91 275 966 1 276 422 382 805

Cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand
Financial institutions
Standard Lesotho Bank Money Market 1 888 880 2 463 692 - -

Standard Bank (Eswatini) Limited 1 615 646 2 051 704 - -

First National Bank (Eswatini) Limited 1 705 022 3 451 923 865 968 76 051

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund* 82 781 316 14 537 875 53 697 48 935

Nedbank (Eswatini) Limited 32 758 925 51 414 394 356 757 257 819

First National Bank (Lesotho) Limited 2 888 720 14 823 447 - -

MTN Eswatini Limited 157 632 268 143 - -

Eswatini Bank 1 819 244 1 054 369 - -

Swaziland Building Society 1 145 131 963 948 - -

Lesotho Post Bank 262 837 237 315 - -

127 023 353 91 266 810 1 276 422 382 805

There is no recognised credit rating agency for financial institutions operating in the Group’s geographies. Excess funds are carried in the 
African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund. The African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund is a low risk regulated money fund which holds a 
diversified portfolio of sovereign debt, bank deposits and corporate paper.
* This is a related party as per note 34.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Exposure to currency risk
The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

Emalangeni 121 987 789 73 656 540 1 276 422 382 805

South African Rand - 121 271 - -

Lesotho Maloti 5 040 537 17 498 155 - -

127 028 326 91 275 966 1 276 422 382 805

16. Loan contractor

2024 2023

Gross loan to contractor 22 287 937 19 853 143

Provision for bad debt (9 950 542) (8 422 495)

Net loan to contractor 12 337 395 11 430 648

The loan bears interest of 12.5% per annum. Included in this balance is an impairment provision of E9 950 542 (2023: E8 422 495). Pine 
Acres contractually holds a registered security of E8 400 000 of the contractors assets.

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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19.	Share capital  

20. Amounts owing to related parties

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Authorised
120 000 000 Ordinary shares of E0.0001 each 120 000 120 000 120 000 120 000

Issued
96 490 000 Ordinary Shares of E 0.0001 each 9 649 9 649 9 649 9 649

Share premium 348 319 980 348 319 980 348 319 980 348 319 980

348 329 629 348 329 629 348 329 629 348 329 629

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Non-current
African Alliance Eswatini Limited 112 251 678 100 224 712 - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 12% and 
matures not later than 07 May 2026.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund - 20 781 370 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E20 000 000, bears 
interest at 11.50% and matures on 30 August 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 15 277 171 15 248 199 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E15 000 000, bears 
interest at 12.75% and matures on 15 November 
2027.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 16 378 048 16 378 048 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E15 000 000, bears 
interest at 12.75% and matures on 13 April 2026.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund - 23 800 000 - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 27 May 2025 with 
a nominal value of LSL 25 000 000, of which LSL 3 
000 000 will be settled within a year, and bearing an 
effective interest rate of 12% pa. 

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund - 24 345 034 - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 17 March 2025 with 
a nominal value of LSL 25 000 000 ,of which LSL 3 
187 500 will be settled within a year, and bore an 
effective interest rate of 12.75% pa.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 20 000 000 20 000 000 20 000 000 20 000 000

The loan has a nominal value of E20 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 13 April 2028.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund - 35 750 168 - 35 750 168

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.5% and matures on 19 August 2025.
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20. Amounts owing to related parties (continued)

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Non-current
African Alliance Ligcebesha Fund 5 294 760 5 294 760 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E5 000 000, bears 
interest at 14.25% and matures on 03 August 2028.

African Alliance Managed Fund 10 589 521 10 589 521 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E10 000 000, bears 
interest at 14.25% and matures on 03 August 2028.

African Alliance Portfolio Fund 15 884 281 15 884 281 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E15 000 000, bears 
interest at 14.25% and matures on 03 August 2028.

African Alliance Eswatini Limited 47 844 497 - - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 10.5% 
p.a. and matures on 04 May 2026.

243 519 956 288 296 093 20 000 000 55 750 168

Current
African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 20 063 370 - - -

The loan bears interest at 13.5% p.a. and matures 
on 23 December 2025.

Pivot Limited - 23 566 23 566

African Alliance Eswatini Limited 5 652 - - -

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 30 523 973 - 30 523 973 -

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 12.50% and matures on 11 May 2025.

African Alliance Advisory (Pty) Limited 66 351 - - -

Select Advisors Proprietary Limited 2 703 998 1 567 165 - -

African Alliance Botswana Liquidity Fund 88 478 712 - - -

The loan bears interest at 12% p.a. and matures on 
12 June 2025.

Debswana Mining Rehabilitation Trust 84 330 737 - - -

The loan bears interest at 9.90% p.a. and matures 
on 04 August 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 40 576 440 - 40 576 440 -

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.5% and matures on 19 August 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Limited - 20 355 974 - 20 355 974

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 11.25% 
and matures on 30 October 2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 20 961 278 - 20 961 278 -

The loan has a nominal value of E19 888 756, bears 
interest at 12.15% and matures on 23 July 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Limited - 43 413 228 - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 10.5% 
p.a. and matures on 04 May 2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 20 951 233 - - -

The loan has a nominal value of E20 000 000, bears 
interest at 11.50% and matures on 30 August 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Securities Limited 29 637 60 000 15 956 30 000

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 44 501 918 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 19 February 2024.

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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Current
African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 54 986 301 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E50 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 27 March 2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 53 925 658 - -

The loan has a nominal value of E50 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 28 August 2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 25 356 163 - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 22 November 2024 
with a nominal value of LSL 25 000 000 and bearing 
an effective interest rate of 12.5% pa.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 27 785 788 - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 16 February 2024 
with a nominal value of LSL 25 000 000 and bearing 
an effective interest rate of 12.75% pa.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 26 808 219 3 000 000 - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 27 May 2025 with a 
nominal value of LSL 25 000 000 and bearing inter-
est rate of 12% pa.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 27 532 534 3 187 500 - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 17 March 2025 with 
a nominal value of LSL 25 000 000 and bearing inter-
est rate of 12.75% pa.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund - 1 873 425 - 1 873 425

The loan has a nominal value of E20 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 13 April 2028. The 
interest portion is payable in April 2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 31 172 342 - 31 172 342

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 12.85% and matures on 12 September 
2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 20 574 247 - 20 574 247

The loan has a nominal value of E20 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.10% and matures on 13 October 2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 50 322 534 - 50 322 534

The loan has a nominal value of E50 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.85% and matures on 15 December 
2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund - 30 531 164 - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 13.75% 
and matures not later than 15 November 2024.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 31 764 247 - 31 764 247 -

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.25% and matures on 31 July 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund 1 873 425 - 1 873 425 -

The loan is unsecured. The loan has a nominal value 
of E20 000000, bears interest at 13% and matures 
on 13 April 2028. The interest portion is payable in 
April 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Limited 20 268 666 - 20 268 666 -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 11.25% 
and matures on 23 April 2025.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023
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African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 44 776 712 - - -

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 19 February 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 55 273 973 - - -

The loan has a nominal value of E50 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 27 March 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 62 744 382 - - -

The loan has a nominal value of E50 000 000, bears 
interest at 13% and matures on 28 August 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 25 654 966 - - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 22 November 2025 
with a nominal value of LSL 25 000 000 and bearing 
interest rate of 12.5% pa.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 27 731 164 - - -

Fixed maturity loan repayable on 16 February 2025 
with a nominal value of LSL 25 000 000 and bearing 
interest rate of 12.75% pa.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 31 208 836 - 31 208 836 -

The loan has a nominal value of E30 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.25% and matures on 12 September 
2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 20 580 822 - 20 580 822 -

The loan has a nominal value of E20 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.25% and matures on 13 October 2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 50 314 384 - 50 314 384 -

The loan has a nominal value of E50 000 000, bears 
interest at 13.50% and matures on 15 December 
2025.

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund 30 521 507 - - -

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at 13.50% 
and matures not later than 20 November 2025.

765 745 218 412 636 973 248 088 027 124 352 088

20. Amounts owing to related parties (continued)

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Amounts owing to related parties and loans and advances to customers have set maturities and are subject to commercial interest rate 
terms supports that the fair value are aligned with the carrying value in terms of IFRS 7 par 29:

Commercial Interest Rate Terms:

The application of commercial interest rates signifies that the liabilities are subject to market-based pricing, reflecting the current cost of 
borrowing for similar financial instruments.

Market Consistency:

Using commercial interest rates ensures that the fair value of the liabilities is in line with prevailing market conditions, further supporting 
that the fair value closely aligns with the carrying value.
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21. Other financial liabilities

Split between non-current and current portions
Non-current liabilities 243 519 956 288 296 093 20 000 000 55 750 168

Current liabilities 765 745 218 412 636 973 248 088 027 124 352 088

1 009 265 174 700 933 066 268 088 027 180 102 256

Currencies
The carrying amount of loans from group companies are denominated in the following currencies:

Emalangeni 833 685 376 699 342 335 268 088 027 180 078 692

South African Rand 2 770 349 1 567 165 - -

Mauritian Rupee - 23 566 - 23 566

Botswana Pula 172 809 449 - - -

1 009 265 174 700 933 066 268 088 027 180 102 258

Unless specified, the loans are current, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment and interest is charged at 2% over the prime 
lending rate of the lender’s functional currency (Annexure A). Please refer to note 34 for details on the related party relationships.

The funding raised will facilitate the Group’s organic growth strategy in the CMA region. This will be achieved by growing the client base 
which The Group is also looking at business and product initiatives which will target previously unexplored sectors of the market. In addi-
tion, subject African Alliance Group Companies on an arms length basis. Interest is payable quarterly or semi annually depending on the 
terms set out 45.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Promissory note Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SML19022025 11.75% 19 Feb 25 2 379 708 192 762 2 572 470 2 187 473 192 236 2 379 709
SML28032025 11.75% 28 Mar 23 157 861 12 896 170 757 145 001 12 860 157 861

SML19022024 0-5 11.50% 19 Feb 24 - - - 4 951 910 435 907 5 387 817

SML28032024 0-1 10.75% 28 Mar 24 - - - 1 793 454 161 250 1 954 704

SML31082024 10.75% 31 Aug 24 - - - 1 859 871 170 796 2 030 667

SML10042024 11.50% 10 Apr 24 - - - 967 962 94 875 1 062 837

SML31082024 1-2 11.00% 31 Aug 24 - - - 3 288 482 312 644 3 601 125

SML31082024-3 9.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 564 678 47 500 612 178

SML31082024-4 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 4 911 071 451 500 5 362 571

SML31082024 10.75% 31 Aug 24 - - - 1 675 829 161 250 1 837 079

SML31082024-6 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 1 963 660 185 338 2 148 997

BO-MF15122024 11.50% 15 Dec 24 - - - 25 155 478 6 975 319 32 130 797

SML19022024-7 9.50% 19 Feb 24 - - - 432 899 38 000 470 899

SML19022025 1-2 10.00% 19 Feb 25 237 760 20 038 257 798 217 723 20 038 237 760

SML19022025-3 11.00% 19 Feb 25 2 302 891 210 182 2 513 073 2 092 709 210 182 2 302 891

SML28032024-2 10.50% 28 Mar 24 - - - 3 678 439 357 540 4 035 979

SML28032025 1-3 11.00% 28 Mar 25 12 348 654 1 137 400 13 486 054 11 211 254 1 137 400 12 348 654

SML03042025 11.75% 03 Apr 25 5 476 701 669 841 6 146 542 5 482 667 663 875 6 146 542

SML11052025 11.50% 11 May 25 3 567 506 410 263 3 977 769 3 199 553 367 949 3 567 502

SML03062024 11.00% 03 Jun 24 - - - 3 145 190 325 194 3 470 384

SML31082024-7 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 360 431 35 709 396 140

SML31082024-8 10.25% 31 Aug 24 - - - 790 433 76 875 867 308

SML31082026 0-4 12.25% 31 Aug 26 6 650 000 274 517 6 924 517 - - -

SML31082027 0-2 12.75% 31 Aug 27 7 300 000 313 650 7 613 650 - - -

BO-MF14072022 12.50% 14 Jul 25 29 996 203 6 091 995 36 088 198 61 511 260 10 707 927 72 219 187

SML15042025 1&3 12.25% 15 Apr 25 9 380 418 821 686 10 202 104 - - -

SML31082024-9 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 672 999 68 250 741 249

SML18092025-1 11.50% 18 Sep 25 1 146 822 115 315 1 262 137 1 031 822 115 000 1 146 822

SML15042025 2&4 13.00% 15 Apr 25 16 931 590 1 573 942 18 505 532 - - -

SML22092024 9.50% 22 Sep 24 - - - 153 943 14 250 168 193

SML18092025 12.50% 18 Sep 25 34 828 766 3 760 274 38 589 040 31 078 766 3 750 000 34 828 766

SML27102025 11.50% 27 Oct 25 3 343 144 334 414 3 677 558 3 009 644 333 500 3 343 144

SML31012025 12.25% 31 Jan 25 5 904 695 663 874 6 568 569 - - -

SML18092025 4 11.50% 18 Sep 25 2 197 504 78 930 2 276 434 - - -

SML15112024 12.50% 15 Nov 24 - - - - - -

SML28032027 0-1 13.50% 28 Mar 27 6 087 103 628 139 6 715 242 - - -

SML15112025 12.00% 15 Nov 25 301 693 31 870 333 563 269 910 31 783 301 693

SML15122024 0-2 10.75% 15 Feb 24 - - - 7 083 832 755 725 7 839 557

SML19022025 3-4 11.75% 19 Feb 25 1 101 726 117 822 1 219 548 1 000 000 101 726 1 101 726

SML19022025-5 12.25% 19 Feb 25 22 121 096 2 456 712 24 577 808 20 000 000 2 121 096 22 121 096

SML19022026 0-3 12.75% 19 Feb 26 23 649 776 2 723 190 26 372 966 21 300 000 2 304 482 23 604 482

BO-REFFA31032026 13.35% 31 Mar 26 31 876 542 6 138 009 38 014 551 50 479 624 6 191 686 56 671 309

SML15042024 0-2 12.00% 15 Apr 24 - - - 13 985 085 1 282 796 15 267 882

SML28032025-4 12.25% 28 Mar 25 2 047 780 230 003 2 277 783 1 868 362 180 445 2 048 807

SML15042025 12.00% 15 Apr 25 8 187 945 902 466 9 090 411 7 500 000 687 945 8 187 945

SML15052026 13.25% 15 May 26 884 526 108 283 992 809 815 000 69 526 884 526

SML15052026-1 13.25% 15 May 26 378 206 46 502 424 708 350 000 28 206 378 206

21.	Other financial liabilities 
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Promissory note Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SML19022025 11.75% 19 Feb 25 2 379 708 192 762 2 572 470 2 187 473 192 236 2 379 709
SML28032025 11.75% 28 Mar 23 157 861 12 896 170 757 145 001 12 860 157 861

SML19022024 0-5 11.50% 19 Feb 24 - - - 4 951 910 435 907 5 387 817

SML28032024 0-1 10.75% 28 Mar 24 - - - 1 793 454 161 250 1 954 704

SML31082024 10.75% 31 Aug 24 - - - 1 859 871 170 796 2 030 667

SML10042024 11.50% 10 Apr 24 - - - 967 962 94 875 1 062 837

SML31082024 1-2 11.00% 31 Aug 24 - - - 3 288 482 312 644 3 601 125

SML31082024-3 9.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 564 678 47 500 612 178

SML31082024-4 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 4 911 071 451 500 5 362 571

SML31082024 10.75% 31 Aug 24 - - - 1 675 829 161 250 1 837 079

SML31082024-6 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 1 963 660 185 338 2 148 997

BO-MF15122024 11.50% 15 Dec 24 - - - 25 155 478 6 975 319 32 130 797

SML19022024-7 9.50% 19 Feb 24 - - - 432 899 38 000 470 899

SML19022025 1-2 10.00% 19 Feb 25 237 760 20 038 257 798 217 723 20 038 237 760

SML19022025-3 11.00% 19 Feb 25 2 302 891 210 182 2 513 073 2 092 709 210 182 2 302 891

SML28032024-2 10.50% 28 Mar 24 - - - 3 678 439 357 540 4 035 979

SML28032025 1-3 11.00% 28 Mar 25 12 348 654 1 137 400 13 486 054 11 211 254 1 137 400 12 348 654

SML03042025 11.75% 03 Apr 25 5 476 701 669 841 6 146 542 5 482 667 663 875 6 146 542

SML11052025 11.50% 11 May 25 3 567 506 410 263 3 977 769 3 199 553 367 949 3 567 502

SML03062024 11.00% 03 Jun 24 - - - 3 145 190 325 194 3 470 384

SML31082024-7 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 360 431 35 709 396 140

SML31082024-8 10.25% 31 Aug 24 - - - 790 433 76 875 867 308

SML31082026 0-4 12.25% 31 Aug 26 6 650 000 274 517 6 924 517 - - -

SML31082027 0-2 12.75% 31 Aug 27 7 300 000 313 650 7 613 650 - - -

BO-MF14072022 12.50% 14 Jul 25 29 996 203 6 091 995 36 088 198 61 511 260 10 707 927 72 219 187

SML15042025 1&3 12.25% 15 Apr 25 9 380 418 821 686 10 202 104 - - -

SML31082024-9 10.50% 31 Aug 24 - - - 672 999 68 250 741 249

SML18092025-1 11.50% 18 Sep 25 1 146 822 115 315 1 262 137 1 031 822 115 000 1 146 822

SML15042025 2&4 13.00% 15 Apr 25 16 931 590 1 573 942 18 505 532 - - -

SML22092024 9.50% 22 Sep 24 - - - 153 943 14 250 168 193

SML18092025 12.50% 18 Sep 25 34 828 766 3 760 274 38 589 040 31 078 766 3 750 000 34 828 766

SML27102025 11.50% 27 Oct 25 3 343 144 334 414 3 677 558 3 009 644 333 500 3 343 144

SML31012025 12.25% 31 Jan 25 5 904 695 663 874 6 568 569 - - -

SML18092025 4 11.50% 18 Sep 25 2 197 504 78 930 2 276 434 - - -

SML15112024 12.50% 15 Nov 24 - - - - - -

SML28032027 0-1 13.50% 28 Mar 27 6 087 103 628 139 6 715 242 - - -

SML15112025 12.00% 15 Nov 25 301 693 31 870 333 563 269 910 31 783 301 693

SML15122024 0-2 10.75% 15 Feb 24 - - - 7 083 832 755 725 7 839 557

SML19022025 3-4 11.75% 19 Feb 25 1 101 726 117 822 1 219 548 1 000 000 101 726 1 101 726

SML19022025-5 12.25% 19 Feb 25 22 121 096 2 456 712 24 577 808 20 000 000 2 121 096 22 121 096

SML19022026 0-3 12.75% 19 Feb 26 23 649 776 2 723 190 26 372 966 21 300 000 2 304 482 23 604 482

BO-REFFA31032026 13.35% 31 Mar 26 31 876 542 6 138 009 38 014 551 50 479 624 6 191 686 56 671 309

SML15042024 0-2 12.00% 15 Apr 24 - - - 13 985 085 1 282 796 15 267 882

SML28032025-4 12.25% 28 Mar 25 2 047 780 230 003 2 277 783 1 868 362 180 445 2 048 807

SML15042025 12.00% 15 Apr 25 8 187 945 902 466 9 090 411 7 500 000 687 945 8 187 945

SML15052026 13.25% 15 May 26 884 526 108 283 992 809 815 000 69 526 884 526

SML15052026-1 13.25% 15 May 26 378 206 46 502 424 708 350 000 28 206 378 206
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Promissory note Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SML15062026 12.50% 15 Jun 26 322 089 37 603 359 692 300 000 22 089 322 089
SML10042024-1 11.00% 10 Apr 24 - - - 625 000 37 860 662 860

SML18092025-2 12.00% 18 Sep 25 416 175 48 132 464 307 400 000 16 175 416 175

SML22092024-1 12.00% 22 Sep 24 - - - 6 555 000 217 662 6 772 662

SML22092024-2 11.00% 22 Sep 24 - - - 813 750 23 053 836 803

SML18092025-3 12.50% 18 Sep 25 967 582 116 568 1 084 150 930 000 37 582 967 582

SML18092025-5 12.25% 18 Sep 25 7 500 000 254 229 7 754 229 - - -

SML05092026 1-2 12.25% 05 Sep 26 1 035 000 35 084 1 070 084 - - -

SML20112025 13.50% 20 Nov 25 1 000 000 12 945 1 012 945 - - -

BO-REFFA20042027 13.00% 20 Apr 27 36 208 000 172 501 36 380 501 - - -

SML05092026 12.50% 05 Sep 26 7 677 836 995 883 8 673 719 7 356 758 321 077 7 677 836

SBC24092024 10.00% 24 Sep 24 - - - 18 408 767 2 200 000 20 608 767

SBC03112023 11.50% 03 Nov 23 - - - 18 547 381 1 755 537 20 302 918

SBC15032027 13.00% 15 Mar 27 36 000 000 3 744 000 39 744 000 - - -

SBC20062026 11.50% 20 Jun 26 150 000 9 216 159 216 - - -

SBC15032024 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 36 000 000 3 593 589 39 593 589

SBC30032026 12.60% 31 Mar 26 103 119 966 13 304 616 116 424 582 93 050 625 10 069 341 103 119 966

SBC03112025 12.50% 03 Nov 25 20 706 195 2 596 097 23 302 292 403 277 - 403 277

Public Service Pensions Fund 12.00% 07 Feb 25 100 000 000 5 013 698 105 013 698 100 000 000 5 013 699 105 013 699

Swatrix Capital Investments 10.75% 23 Apr 24 10 000 000 1 558 368 11 558 368 10 000 000 250 000 10 250 000

Nedbank (Eswatini) Limited Prime -0.75% 30 Nov 28 68 367 562 - 68 367 562 70 669 610 - 70 669 610

Growmore (Pty) Limited 12.50% 22 Mar 27 3 000 000 301 630 3 301 630 - - -

Yvette Cardosa & Isidoro Cardosa 12.00% 02 Mar 26 1 500 000 150 411 1 650 411 - - -

Inala Capital (Pty) Ltd 14.44% 23 May 25 16 739 214 1 476 775 18 215 989 - - -

Swaziland Packaging and General 
Distributors 11.50% 25 May 25 10 033 527 698 636 10 732 163 - - -

Louis Erasmus 11.25% 30 Nov 26 2 500 000 327 616 2 827 616 - - -

Total promissory notes 668 029 762 60 918 983 728 948 745 666 246 583 64 781 534 731 028 117

21.	Other financial liabilities (continued)
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Promissory note Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SML15062026 12.50% 15 Jun 26 322 089 37 603 359 692 300 000 22 089 322 089
SML10042024-1 11.00% 10 Apr 24 - - - 625 000 37 860 662 860

SML18092025-2 12.00% 18 Sep 25 416 175 48 132 464 307 400 000 16 175 416 175

SML22092024-1 12.00% 22 Sep 24 - - - 6 555 000 217 662 6 772 662

SML22092024-2 11.00% 22 Sep 24 - - - 813 750 23 053 836 803

SML18092025-3 12.50% 18 Sep 25 967 582 116 568 1 084 150 930 000 37 582 967 582

SML18092025-5 12.25% 18 Sep 25 7 500 000 254 229 7 754 229 - - -

SML05092026 1-2 12.25% 05 Sep 26 1 035 000 35 084 1 070 084 - - -

SML20112025 13.50% 20 Nov 25 1 000 000 12 945 1 012 945 - - -

BO-REFFA20042027 13.00% 20 Apr 27 36 208 000 172 501 36 380 501 - - -

SML05092026 12.50% 05 Sep 26 7 677 836 995 883 8 673 719 7 356 758 321 077 7 677 836

SBC24092024 10.00% 24 Sep 24 - - - 18 408 767 2 200 000 20 608 767

SBC03112023 11.50% 03 Nov 23 - - - 18 547 381 1 755 537 20 302 918

SBC15032027 13.00% 15 Mar 27 36 000 000 3 744 000 39 744 000 - - -

SBC20062026 11.50% 20 Jun 26 150 000 9 216 159 216 - - -

SBC15032024 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 36 000 000 3 593 589 39 593 589

SBC30032026 12.60% 31 Mar 26 103 119 966 13 304 616 116 424 582 93 050 625 10 069 341 103 119 966

SBC03112025 12.50% 03 Nov 25 20 706 195 2 596 097 23 302 292 403 277 - 403 277

Public Service Pensions Fund 12.00% 07 Feb 25 100 000 000 5 013 698 105 013 698 100 000 000 5 013 699 105 013 699

Swatrix Capital Investments 10.75% 23 Apr 24 10 000 000 1 558 368 11 558 368 10 000 000 250 000 10 250 000

Nedbank (Eswatini) Limited Prime -0.75% 30 Nov 28 68 367 562 - 68 367 562 70 669 610 - 70 669 610

Growmore (Pty) Limited 12.50% 22 Mar 27 3 000 000 301 630 3 301 630 - - -

Yvette Cardosa & Isidoro Cardosa 12.00% 02 Mar 26 1 500 000 150 411 1 650 411 - - -

Inala Capital (Pty) Ltd 14.44% 23 May 25 16 739 214 1 476 775 18 215 989 - - -

Swaziland Packaging and General 
Distributors 11.50% 25 May 25 10 033 527 698 636 10 732 163 - - -

Louis Erasmus 11.25% 30 Nov 26 2 500 000 327 616 2 827 616 - - -

Total promissory notes 668 029 762 60 918 983 728 948 745 666 246 583 64 781 534 731 028 117
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Medium term notes Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SML901 11.00% 08 Apr 25 30 000 000 2 423 104 32 423 104 30 000 000 2 423 014 32 423 014
SML904 11.00% 08 May 25 12 500 000 203 425 12 703 425 12 500 000 209 075 12 709 075
SML906 12.00% 19 Jul 25 16 520 000 901 585 17 421 585 16 520 000 901 585 17 421 585
SML909 12.00% 06 Sep 25 10 991 732 422 805 11 414 537 10 991 732 422 805 11 414 537
SML910 12.50% 15 Nov 25 7 520 000 2 049 973 9 569 973 7 520 000 1 107 397 8 627 397
SML911 12.85% 15 Nov 27 3 790 000 70 032 3 860 032 3 790 000 64 046 3 854 046
SML913 12.25% 31 Jan 25 48 304 941 5 447 209 53 752 150 48 304 941 6 225 382 54 530 323
SML914 13.00% 11 Jan 29 50 000 000 6 339 726 56 339 726 50 000 000 6 321 918 56 321 918
SML919 13.50% 16 Apr 29 30 000 000 2 938 356 32 938 356 30 000 000 2 751 781 32 751 781
SML920 14.25% 04 Jul 26 11 000 000 777 308 11 777 308 11 000 000 777 308 11 777 308
SML921 13.50% 06 Jul 26 7 500 000 496 541 7 996 541 7 500 000 496 541 7 996 541
SML922 13.50% 28 Jul 26 17 700 000 1 021 266 18 721 266 17 700 000 1 027 812 18 727 812
SML923 13.25% 31 Jul 25 15 000 000 2 937 171 17 937 171 15 000 000 844 007 15 844 007
SML1000 14.25% 03 Aug 28 2 000 000 117 904 2 117 904 2 000 000 117 904 2 117 904
SML1002 14.00% 25 Sep 28 15 000 000 448 767 15 448 767 15 000 000 563 836 15 563 836
SML1003 14.25% 28 Oct 26 32 000 000 799 562 32 799 562 32 000 000 812 055 32 812 055
SML1004 13.25% 30 Oct 28 31 029 250 709 635 31 738 885 31 029 250 709 635 31 738 885
SML1005 12.75% 09 Nov 25 19 800 000 366 571 20 166 571 19 800 000 366 571 20 166 571
SML1007 14.25% 11 Dec 26 17 000 000 139 377 17 139 377 17 000 000 139 377 17 139 377
SML710 12.50% 19 Nov 24 - - - 50 000 000 719 178 50 719 178
SML811 11.80% 20 Jun 24 - - - 32 350 000 125 500 32 475 500
SML812 11.80% 20 Jun 24 - - - 15 600 000 60 519 15 660 519
SML816 12.65% 10 Apr 24 - - - 23 650 000 684 408 24 334 408
SML817 11.50% 07 May 24 - - - 15 000 000 1 129 521 16 129 521
SML818 11.50% 23 Jun 24 - - - 8 157 748 493 488 8 651 236
SML819 11.50% 23 Jun 24 - - - 5 000 000 302 466 5 302 466
SML1008 13.75% 27 Mar 25 32 967 910 3 924 536 36 892 446 - - -
SML1009 13.75% 07 Apr 25 5 850 000 617 055 6 467 055 - - -
SML1010 12.25% 10 Apr 27 21 990 000 1 985 275 23 975 275 - - -
SML1011 13.25% 07 May 27 5 391 775 526 511 5 918 286 - - -
SML1012 13.50% 20 Jun 26 15 000 000 1 325 959 16 325 959 - - -
SML1016 13.75% 23 Jun 27 35 900 000 2 637 175 38 537 175 - - -
SML1017 13.25% 23 Jun 27 26 757 748 1 864 978 28 622 726 - - -
SML1018 13.25% 28 Aug 25 4 200 000 192 107 4 392 107 - - -
SML1020 13.50% 20 Nov 25 16 406 112 285 197 16 691 309 - - -
SML1021 12.25% 19 Nov 27 50 000 000 721 575 50 721 575 - - -
SML915 13.00% 19 Feb 24 - - - 9 800 000 1 106 460 10 906 460
SML916 13.00% 27 Mar 24 - - - 6 900 000 690 567 7 590 567
SML917 12.00% 07 Apr 24 - - - 22 400 000 1 981 019 24 381 019
SML1001 13.00% 28 Aug 24 - - 3 400 000 152 581 3 552 581
SML1006 13.75% 15 Nov 24 - - 9 830 126 196 992 10 027 118
ALCB Fund 14.00% 29 Mar 24 - - - 25 000 000 163 014 25 163 014
Mergence 14.00% 27 Nov 24 - - - 40 000 000 1 426 849 41 426 849
Andrew Linsey 12.00% 06 May 24 - - - 5 000 000 394 521 5 394 521
Aluwani 13.75% 11 Apr 26 - - - 30 000 000 932 055 30 932 055
Aluwani 13.75% 11 Apr 26 30 000 000 925 068 30 925 068 - - -
Alliance Insurance Company Limited 13.00% 18 Sep 26 - - - 10 000 000 373 973 10 373 973
Alliance Insurance Company Limited 13.00% 18 Sep 26 10 000 000 373 973 10 373 973 - - -
Alliance Insurance Company Limited 13.00% 04 Jul 27 10 000 000 644 658 10 644 658 - - -

21.	Other financial liabilities (continued)
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Medium term notes Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SML901 11.00% 08 Apr 25 30 000 000 2 423 104 32 423 104 30 000 000 2 423 014 32 423 014
SML904 11.00% 08 May 25 12 500 000 203 425 12 703 425 12 500 000 209 075 12 709 075
SML906 12.00% 19 Jul 25 16 520 000 901 585 17 421 585 16 520 000 901 585 17 421 585
SML909 12.00% 06 Sep 25 10 991 732 422 805 11 414 537 10 991 732 422 805 11 414 537
SML910 12.50% 15 Nov 25 7 520 000 2 049 973 9 569 973 7 520 000 1 107 397 8 627 397
SML911 12.85% 15 Nov 27 3 790 000 70 032 3 860 032 3 790 000 64 046 3 854 046
SML913 12.25% 31 Jan 25 48 304 941 5 447 209 53 752 150 48 304 941 6 225 382 54 530 323
SML914 13.00% 11 Jan 29 50 000 000 6 339 726 56 339 726 50 000 000 6 321 918 56 321 918
SML919 13.50% 16 Apr 29 30 000 000 2 938 356 32 938 356 30 000 000 2 751 781 32 751 781
SML920 14.25% 04 Jul 26 11 000 000 777 308 11 777 308 11 000 000 777 308 11 777 308
SML921 13.50% 06 Jul 26 7 500 000 496 541 7 996 541 7 500 000 496 541 7 996 541
SML922 13.50% 28 Jul 26 17 700 000 1 021 266 18 721 266 17 700 000 1 027 812 18 727 812
SML923 13.25% 31 Jul 25 15 000 000 2 937 171 17 937 171 15 000 000 844 007 15 844 007
SML1000 14.25% 03 Aug 28 2 000 000 117 904 2 117 904 2 000 000 117 904 2 117 904
SML1002 14.00% 25 Sep 28 15 000 000 448 767 15 448 767 15 000 000 563 836 15 563 836
SML1003 14.25% 28 Oct 26 32 000 000 799 562 32 799 562 32 000 000 812 055 32 812 055
SML1004 13.25% 30 Oct 28 31 029 250 709 635 31 738 885 31 029 250 709 635 31 738 885
SML1005 12.75% 09 Nov 25 19 800 000 366 571 20 166 571 19 800 000 366 571 20 166 571
SML1007 14.25% 11 Dec 26 17 000 000 139 377 17 139 377 17 000 000 139 377 17 139 377
SML710 12.50% 19 Nov 24 - - - 50 000 000 719 178 50 719 178
SML811 11.80% 20 Jun 24 - - - 32 350 000 125 500 32 475 500
SML812 11.80% 20 Jun 24 - - - 15 600 000 60 519 15 660 519
SML816 12.65% 10 Apr 24 - - - 23 650 000 684 408 24 334 408
SML817 11.50% 07 May 24 - - - 15 000 000 1 129 521 16 129 521
SML818 11.50% 23 Jun 24 - - - 8 157 748 493 488 8 651 236
SML819 11.50% 23 Jun 24 - - - 5 000 000 302 466 5 302 466
SML1008 13.75% 27 Mar 25 32 967 910 3 924 536 36 892 446 - - -
SML1009 13.75% 07 Apr 25 5 850 000 617 055 6 467 055 - - -
SML1010 12.25% 10 Apr 27 21 990 000 1 985 275 23 975 275 - - -
SML1011 13.25% 07 May 27 5 391 775 526 511 5 918 286 - - -
SML1012 13.50% 20 Jun 26 15 000 000 1 325 959 16 325 959 - - -
SML1016 13.75% 23 Jun 27 35 900 000 2 637 175 38 537 175 - - -
SML1017 13.25% 23 Jun 27 26 757 748 1 864 978 28 622 726 - - -
SML1018 13.25% 28 Aug 25 4 200 000 192 107 4 392 107 - - -
SML1020 13.50% 20 Nov 25 16 406 112 285 197 16 691 309 - - -
SML1021 12.25% 19 Nov 27 50 000 000 721 575 50 721 575 - - -
SML915 13.00% 19 Feb 24 - - - 9 800 000 1 106 460 10 906 460
SML916 13.00% 27 Mar 24 - - - 6 900 000 690 567 7 590 567
SML917 12.00% 07 Apr 24 - - - 22 400 000 1 981 019 24 381 019
SML1001 13.00% 28 Aug 24 - - 3 400 000 152 581 3 552 581
SML1006 13.75% 15 Nov 24 - - 9 830 126 196 992 10 027 118
ALCB Fund 14.00% 29 Mar 24 - - - 25 000 000 163 014 25 163 014
Mergence 14.00% 27 Nov 24 - - - 40 000 000 1 426 849 41 426 849
Andrew Linsey 12.00% 06 May 24 - - - 5 000 000 394 521 5 394 521
Aluwani 13.75% 11 Apr 26 - - - 30 000 000 932 055 30 932 055
Aluwani 13.75% 11 Apr 26 30 000 000 925 068 30 925 068 - - -
Alliance Insurance Company Limited 13.00% 18 Sep 26 - - - 10 000 000 373 973 10 373 973
Alliance Insurance Company Limited 13.00% 18 Sep 26 10 000 000 373 973 10 373 973 - - -
Alliance Insurance Company Limited 13.00% 04 Jul 27 10 000 000 644 658 10 644 658 - - -
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Medium term notes Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SBC101 10.50% 08 Nov 24 - - - 15 000 000 233 013 15 233 013
SBC102 10.50% 15 Dec 24 - - - 15 000 000 73 356 15 073 356
SBC103 10.50% 27 Jan 24 - - - 49 320 506 9 988 417 59 308 923
SBC105 11.15% 20 Jun 24 - - - 25 150 000 96 035 25 246 035
SBC106 12.25% 20 Sep 25 20 000 000 691 370 20 691 370 20 000 000 691 370 20 691 370
SBC107 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 25 571 740 3 041 961 28 613 701
SBC116 13.75% 23 Jan 31 50 000 000 6 460 616 56 460 616 - - -
SBC110 12.25% 10 Jul 24 - - - 15 000 000 880 991 15 880 991
SBC111 12.75% 10 Jul 25 15 000 000 2 834 692 17 834 692 15 000 000 916 951 15 916 951
SBC112 12.75% 31 Jan 25 10 000 000 1 889 795 11 889 795 10 000 000 611 301 10 611 301
SBC113 13.25% 15 Aug 25 30 000 000 5 677 901 35 677 901 30 000 000 1 502 877 31 502 877
SBC117 12.50% 10 Jul 25 20 000 000 1 184 932 21 184 932 - - -
SBC121 12.75% 24 Sep 27 30 000 000 1 037 466 31 037 466 - - -
SBC124 12.50% 08 Nov 27 15 000 000 277 397 15 277 397 - - -
SBC126 12.50% 15 Dec 27 15 000 000 87 329 15 087 329 - - -
SBC108 (renewed) 13.85% 15 Dec 24 - - - 1 509 676 - 1 509 676
Yvette Cardosa & Isidoro Cardosa 11.50% 02 Mar 24 - - - 1 400 000 295 534 1 695 534
Growmore (Pty) Ltd 11.50% 08 Mar 24 - - - 2 000 000 422 192 2 422 192
Louis Erasmus 11.50% 30 Nov 24 - - - 2 500 000 312 705 2 812 705
Inala Capital Limited 12.75% 26 Apr 24 - - - 23 511 532 2 053 233 25 564 765
Swaziland Packaging and General Distributors (PTY) Ltd 11.50% 25 May 24 - - - 8 998 679 626 579 9 625 258
ALCB Fund 17.90% 27 Mar 27 25 000 000 304 055 25 304 055 - - -
Total medium term notes 872 119 468 65 079 937 937 199 405 949 705 930 58 961 675 1 008 667 605

Total Group 1 540 149 230 125 998 920 1 666 148 150 1 615 952 514 123 743 209 1 739 695 722

21.	Other financial liabilities (continued)
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Medium term notes Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SBC101 10.50% 08 Nov 24 - - - 15 000 000 233 013 15 233 013
SBC102 10.50% 15 Dec 24 - - - 15 000 000 73 356 15 073 356
SBC103 10.50% 27 Jan 24 - - - 49 320 506 9 988 417 59 308 923
SBC105 11.15% 20 Jun 24 - - - 25 150 000 96 035 25 246 035
SBC106 12.25% 20 Sep 25 20 000 000 691 370 20 691 370 20 000 000 691 370 20 691 370
SBC107 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 25 571 740 3 041 961 28 613 701
SBC116 13.75% 23 Jan 31 50 000 000 6 460 616 56 460 616 - - -
SBC110 12.25% 10 Jul 24 - - - 15 000 000 880 991 15 880 991
SBC111 12.75% 10 Jul 25 15 000 000 2 834 692 17 834 692 15 000 000 916 951 15 916 951
SBC112 12.75% 31 Jan 25 10 000 000 1 889 795 11 889 795 10 000 000 611 301 10 611 301
SBC113 13.25% 15 Aug 25 30 000 000 5 677 901 35 677 901 30 000 000 1 502 877 31 502 877
SBC117 12.50% 10 Jul 25 20 000 000 1 184 932 21 184 932 - - -
SBC121 12.75% 24 Sep 27 30 000 000 1 037 466 31 037 466 - - -
SBC124 12.50% 08 Nov 27 15 000 000 277 397 15 277 397 - - -
SBC126 12.50% 15 Dec 27 15 000 000 87 329 15 087 329 - - -
SBC108 (renewed) 13.85% 15 Dec 24 - - - 1 509 676 - 1 509 676
Yvette Cardosa & Isidoro Cardosa 11.50% 02 Mar 24 - - - 1 400 000 295 534 1 695 534
Growmore (Pty) Ltd 11.50% 08 Mar 24 - - - 2 000 000 422 192 2 422 192
Louis Erasmus 11.50% 30 Nov 24 - - - 2 500 000 312 705 2 812 705
Inala Capital Limited 12.75% 26 Apr 24 - - - 23 511 532 2 053 233 25 564 765
Swaziland Packaging and General Distributors (PTY) Ltd 11.50% 25 May 24 - - - 8 998 679 626 579 9 625 258
ALCB Fund 17.90% 27 Mar 27 25 000 000 304 055 25 304 055 - - -
Total medium term notes 872 119 468 65 079 937 937 199 405 949 705 930 58 961 675 1 008 667 605

Total Group 1 540 149 230 125 998 920 1 666 148 150 1 615 952 514 123 743 209 1 739 695 722
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Promissory note Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SBC24092024 10.00% 24 Sep 24 - - - 18 408 767 2 200 000 20 608 767
SBC03112023 11.50% 03 Nov 23 - - - 18 547 381 1 755 537 20 302 918
SBC15032024 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 36 000 000 3 593 589 39 593 589
SBC30032026 12.60% 31 Mar 26 103 119 966 13 304 616 116 424 582 93 050 625 10 069 341 103 119 966
SBC03112025 12.50% 03 Nov 25 20 706 195 2 596 097 23 302 292 403 277 - 403 277
Public Service Pensions Fund 12.00% 07 Feb 25 100 000 000 5 013 698 105 013 698 100 000 000 5 013 699 105 013 699
Swatrix Capital Investments 10.75% 23 Apr 24 10 000 000 1 558 368 11 558 368 10 000 000 250 000 10 250 000
SBC15032027 13.00% 15 Mar 27 36 000 000 3 744 000 39 744 000 - - -
SBC20062026 11.50% 20 Jun 26 150 000 9 216 159 216 - - -
Total promissory notes 269 976 161 26 225 995 296 202 156 276 410 050 22 882 166 299 292 216

Medium term notes
SBC101 10.50% 08 Nov 24 - - - 15 000 000 233 013 15 233 013
SBC102 10.50% 15 Dec 24 - - - 15 000 000 73 356 15 073 356
SBC103 10.50% 27 Jan 24 - - - 49 320 506 9 988 417 59 308 923
SBC105 11.15% 20 Jun 24 - - - 25 150 000 96 035 25 246 035
SBC106 12.25% 20 Sep 25 20 691 370 - 20 691 370 20 000 000 691 370 20 691 370
SBC107 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 25 571 740 3 041 961 28 613 701
SBC110 12.25% 10 Jul 24 - - - 15 000 000 880 991 15 880 991
SBC111 12.75% 10 Jul 25 17 834 692 - 17 834 692 15 000 000 916 951 15 916 951
SBC112 12.75% 31 Jan 25 11 889 795 - 11 889 795 10 000 000 611 301 10 611 301
SBC113 13.25% 15 Aug 25 35 677 901 - 35 677 901 30 000 000 1 502 878 31 502 878
SBC108 (renewed) 13.85% 15 Dec 24 - - - 1 509 676 - 1 509 676
SBC116 13.75% 23 Jan 31 56 460 616 - 56 460 616 - - -
SBC117 12.50% 10 Jul 25 21 184 932 - 21 184 932 - - -
SBC121 12.75% 24 Sep 27 31 037 466 - 31 037 466 - - -
SBC124 12.50% 08 Nov 27 15 277 397 - 15 277 397 - - -
SBC126 12.50% 15 Dec 27 15 087 329 - 15 087 329 - - -
Total medium term notes 225 141 498 - 225 141 498 221 551 922 18 036 273 239 588 195

Total Company 495 117 659 26 225 995 521 343 654 497 961 972 40 918 439 538 880 411

21.	Other financial liabilities (continued)
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31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Promissory note Interest rate Maturity date Face value Interest Carrying amount Face value Interest Carrying amount

SBC24092024 10.00% 24 Sep 24 - - - 18 408 767 2 200 000 20 608 767
SBC03112023 11.50% 03 Nov 23 - - - 18 547 381 1 755 537 20 302 918
SBC15032024 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 36 000 000 3 593 589 39 593 589
SBC30032026 12.60% 31 Mar 26 103 119 966 13 304 616 116 424 582 93 050 625 10 069 341 103 119 966
SBC03112025 12.50% 03 Nov 25 20 706 195 2 596 097 23 302 292 403 277 - 403 277
Public Service Pensions Fund 12.00% 07 Feb 25 100 000 000 5 013 698 105 013 698 100 000 000 5 013 699 105 013 699
Swatrix Capital Investments 10.75% 23 Apr 24 10 000 000 1 558 368 11 558 368 10 000 000 250 000 10 250 000
SBC15032027 13.00% 15 Mar 27 36 000 000 3 744 000 39 744 000 - - -
SBC20062026 11.50% 20 Jun 26 150 000 9 216 159 216 - - -
Total promissory notes 269 976 161 26 225 995 296 202 156 276 410 050 22 882 166 299 292 216

Medium term notes
SBC101 10.50% 08 Nov 24 - - - 15 000 000 233 013 15 233 013
SBC102 10.50% 15 Dec 24 - - - 15 000 000 73 356 15 073 356
SBC103 10.50% 27 Jan 24 - - - 49 320 506 9 988 417 59 308 923
SBC105 11.15% 20 Jun 24 - - - 25 150 000 96 035 25 246 035
SBC106 12.25% 20 Sep 25 20 691 370 - 20 691 370 20 000 000 691 370 20 691 370
SBC107 10.50% 15 Mar 24 - - - 25 571 740 3 041 961 28 613 701
SBC110 12.25% 10 Jul 24 - - - 15 000 000 880 991 15 880 991
SBC111 12.75% 10 Jul 25 17 834 692 - 17 834 692 15 000 000 916 951 15 916 951
SBC112 12.75% 31 Jan 25 11 889 795 - 11 889 795 10 000 000 611 301 10 611 301
SBC113 13.25% 15 Aug 25 35 677 901 - 35 677 901 30 000 000 1 502 878 31 502 878
SBC108 (renewed) 13.85% 15 Dec 24 - - - 1 509 676 - 1 509 676
SBC116 13.75% 23 Jan 31 56 460 616 - 56 460 616 - - -
SBC117 12.50% 10 Jul 25 21 184 932 - 21 184 932 - - -
SBC121 12.75% 24 Sep 27 31 037 466 - 31 037 466 - - -
SBC124 12.50% 08 Nov 27 15 277 397 - 15 277 397 - - -
SBC126 12.50% 15 Dec 27 15 087 329 - 15 087 329 - - -
Total medium term notes 225 141 498 - 225 141 498 221 551 922 18 036 273 239 588 195

Total Company 495 117 659 26 225 995 521 343 654 497 961 972 40 918 439 538 880 411
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21.	Other financial liabilities (continued)

Split between non-current and current portions
Non-current liabilities 886 146 528 1 048 979 006 262 583 799 275 259 438

Current liabilities 780 001 622 690 716 716 258 759 855 263 620 973

1 666 148 150 1 739 695 722 521 343 654 538 880 411

Other financial liabilities have set maturities and are subject to commercial interest rate terms supports that the fair value are aligned 
with the carrying value in terms of IFRS 7 par 29:
Commercial Interest Rate Terms:
The application of commercial interest rates signifies that the liabilities are subject to market-based pricing, reflecting the current cost 
of borrowing for similar financial instruments.
Market Consistency:
Using commercial interest rates ensures that the fair value of the liabilities is in line with prevailing market conditions, further supporting 
that the fair value closely aligns with the carrying value.
Composition of other financial liabilities
The Group raises funds through Promissory Notes and Medium Term Note Programmes(MTNs). The MTNs are listed on the Eswatini 
Stock Exchange in the name of Select Limited, a subsidiary of SBC Limited, and had an available facility of E 47 633 168 as at 31 
December 2024 (2023: E 816 778 789).
During quarter one of 2025, management concluded on the following new MTN listings to ensure sufficient supply for future investment 
demand, with the SBC Group:
•	 SBC Limited: E130m
•	 Select Limited: E1b
•	 Lesana Lesotho Limited: E200m

Current composition of other financial liabilities
Medium term notes 940 027 021 853 256 743 225 141 498 239 588 198

Term notes 116 572 066 341 344 174 116 572 066 115 263 699

Promissory notes 609 549 063 545 094 805 179 630 090 184 028 514

1 666 148 150 1 739 695 722 521 343 654 538 880 411

Term notes are bilateral agreements entered into with investors, with a fixed rate and repayment term.

22.	Deferred income
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Non-current liabilities 17 256 560 - - -
Current liabilities 5 752 187 - - -

23 008 747 - - -

During the current year an adjustment to retained earnings was made, that referred to a prior year adjustment to income and de-
ferred income. In SBC’s prior year financials, this change not effected was not material.
The Group charges 4% - 5% upfront fee which are capitalised to loans advanced to customers, these fees include the following ser-
vices rendered:
•	 Evaluating the prospective borrower’s financial condition
•	 Evaluating and recording affordability calculations
•	 Negotiating loan terms
•	 Preparing and processing loan documents
•	 Closing the transaction.
In terms of IFRS 9 paragraph B 5.4.2 these fees are considered an integral part of the loan and should be deferred and recognised 
over the term of the loan.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2024 2023 2024 2023

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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23.	Trade and other payables 

24.	Income

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Current
Financial instruments:
Trade payables 403 309 888 337 - -

Other payables - 48 575 - -

Accrued expense 2 413 810 2 511 896 3 462 22 358

Incentive provision* - 22 908 546 - -

Deposits owing to tenants 1 124 172 1 136 765 - -

*During the year under review, the incentive provision was fully paid.

Non-financial instruments:
Withholding Tax Payable 377 231 528 285 - -

Value Added Tax - 107 075 - -

4 318 522 28 129 479 3 462 22 358

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Loan and book administration fees 178 819 008 187 645 083 - -
Rental income 18 810 083 16 218 821 - -

Management fees - - 12 419 000 11 290 000

Insurance claims paid out 231 051 - - -

Other income - - 21 436 -

Interest income on effective interest rate 244 939 886 230 091 007 - -

442 800 028 433 954 911 12 440 436 11 290 000

25.	Other income
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in Emalangeni Notes 2024 2023 2024 2023

Gains on disposals
Property, plant and equipment 3 29 184 61 899 - -

Investments in subsidiaries 8 - 36 535 - -

29 184 98 434 - -

Foreign exchange (losses)/gains
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (1 686 677) 11 061 13 281 10 356

Total other operating (losses)/gains (1 657 493 109 495 13 281 10 356
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26. Operating profit/(loss)
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Auditor’s remuneration - external
Audit fees 1 848 229 1 524 193 540 256 371 070

Remuneration, other than to employees
Administrative and managerial services 60 288 112 57 387 961 180 997 195 972

Consulting and professional services 12 831 006 17 303 082 11 601 523 92 480

Commission paid 27 230 489 26 437 630 5 332 933 4 865 130

100 349 607 101 128 673 17 115 453 5 153 582

Employee costs
Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 30 272 327 29 461 790 - -

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2 034 308 1 556 572 - -

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2 073 013 1 958 370 - -

Amortisation of intangible assets 2 607 939 2 598 456 - -

Total depreciation and amortisation 6 715 260 6 113 398 - -

Movement in credit loss allowances
Loan and advances* 6 119 368 1 450 088 - -

*Due to the growth (approximately 50%) of the higher yielding short term products in Select Limited during the year under review, the 
overall provision for credit losses on loans and advances increased, due to a higher ECL provision coupled to this product grouping. An 
ECL provision of approximately 10% on these product grouping is however still market related and deemed as appropriate.

27. Investment income
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Dividend income* - - 10 000 000 290 140 951

Interest income
Interest on short term deposit with banks 7 312 909 8 361 601 191 400 240 201

Others 477 464 779 438 - -

Interest on loans to related parties 67 944 071 79 360 774 69 552 956 63 925 172

Total interest income 75 734 444 88 501 813 69 744 356 64 165 373
Total investment income 75 734 444 88 501 813 79 744 356 354 306 324

*A cash dividend income amounting to E 10 000 000 was received during year (2023: E 30 000 000), while a non-cash dividend was 
received in the prior year of E 260 140 951.
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Interest on loans from related parties 101 159 717 59 595 628 27 464 127 14 406 082
Interest on other financial liabilities 201 989 242 213 332 357 60 433 612 60 516 399

Lease liabilities 356 213 407 245 - -

Bank - 3 807 - -

Total finance costs 303 505 172 273 339 037 87 897 739 74 922 481

28.	Finance costs

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
Basic and diluted basic (0.04) 0.30 - -

Basic earnings per share was based on earnings (loss) of E(3 792 188) (2023: E 28 944 058) and a weighted average number of ordinary 
shares of 96 490 000 (2023: 96 490 000).

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year to basic earnings 

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (3 792 188) 28 944 058 (11 764 498) 283 274 137

29.	Taxation

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Major components of the tax expense (income)
Current
Eswatini 18 316 364 25 159 939 - -

Withholding tax 6 829 374 4 241 369 581 900 2 284 257

25 145 738 29 401 308 581 900 2 284 257

Deferred
Eswatini (12 627 536) (8 516 278) (2 869 134) (996 074)

Lesotho (260 313) 193 169 - -

(12 887 849) (8 323 109) (2 869 134) (996 074)

12 257 889 21 078 199 (2 287 234) 1 288 183
Reconciliation of the tax expense
Applicable tax rate 27.50 % 27.50 % 27.50 % 27.50 %

Deferred tax asset not recognised - % 7.70 % - % - %

Permanent difference (14.86)% 4.60 % - % 0.82 %

Exempt income 31.18 % - % - % (28.04)%

Withholding tax 80.64 % 2.33 % (4.14)% 0.22 %

Difference in tax rates (18.59)% - % - % - %

Prior period adjustment (33.93)% - % - % - %

Tax rate change 52.19 % - % (2.50)% - %

Tax loss brought forward 20.65 % - % (4.58)% - %

144.78 % 42.13 % 16.28 % 0.50 %

30.	Earnings per share
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31.	Cash generated from/(used in) operations
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023
Profit/(loss) before taxation 8 465 701 50 022 257 (14 051 732) 284 562 320
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation, amortisation, impairments and  
reversals of impairments 12 834 628 7 563 486 - -

Gains on sale of assets and liabilities (29 184) (98 434) - -

Gains on exchange differences 1 686 677 (11 061) (13 281) (10 356)

Bad debts 17 838 125 15 636 184 - -

Adjust for items which are presented separately:
Interest income (75 734 444) (88 501 813) (69 744 356) (64 165 373)

Dividends received - - (10 000 000) (290 140 951)

Finance costs 303 505 172 273 339 037 87 897 739 74 922 481

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 27 863 241 (34 306 656) (1 688 883) 72 210

Increase in loan and advances (74 552 880) (111 591 620) - -

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (28 129 479) 8 061 254 (22 358) (1 285 367)

Increase in deferred income 23 008 747 - - -
Movement from other financial and related party 
loans (126 588 715) (75 050 567) (999 157) (6 309 468)

90 167 589 45 062 067 (8 622 028) (2 354 504)

32.	Tax paid

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Balance at beginning of the year 6 182 708 (1 753 082) - 1 750 000
Current tax recognised in profit or loss (25 145 738) (29 401 308) (581 900) (2 284 257)

Balance at end of the year (3 634 070) (6 182 708) - -

(22 597 100) (37 337 098) (581 900) (534 257)

33. Dividends declared

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Dividends (10 000 000) (50 000 000) (10 000 000) (50 000 000)

Dividends are from capital profits.

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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34.	Related parties

Relationships

Ultimate holding company Cinco Holdings Limited, incorporated in the Isle of Man

Holding company Select Africa Finance Limited, incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius

Subsidiaries Refer to note 8
Fellow subsidiaries of Cinco  
Holdings Limited

African Alliance Advisory (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

Pivot Limited, incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius

African Alliance Eswatini Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini

African Alliance Eswatini Securities Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini 

General Africa Foods (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 

Lojaf (Proprietary) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini

Matsapha Link (Proprietary) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini 

Manzini Arch (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini

Afri Pack (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini

Select Advisors Proprietary Limited, incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 

African Alliance Eswatini Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini

Moor Properties (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini

Ezabeni Property Holdings (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini 

Select Africa Limited, incorporated in the Isle of Man

Alliance Foods (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini 

Vidastyle Botswana (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Republic of Botswana

Ezabeni Property Holdings (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini 

Afri Pack General SA (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 

Select Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini

Pine Acres (Proprietary) Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini 

Lesana Lesotho Limited, incorporated in the Kingdom of Lesotho

Osmaza SA Properties (Pty) Limited, incorporated in the Republic of South Africa 

D&T Enterprises (Pty) Ltd, incorporated in the Kingdom of Eswatini
Collective investment scheme 
managed by fellow subsidiaries

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund, 

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund, 

African Alliance Botswana Liquidity Fund, 

African Alliance Ligcebesha Fund, 

African Alliance Managed Fund,

African Alliance Portfolio Fund, 

Debswana Mining Rehabilitation Trust

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Related party balances
Related party balances are set out in note 10 and 20 of the financial statements.

Related party transactions
Administration and management fees
Select Advisors Proprietary Limited (27 943 035) (25 688 213) - -

Select Africa Finance Limited (17 931 147) (17 153 164) - -

Pivot Limited (14 024 361) (14 216 339) - -

Select Limited - - 6 600 000 6 000 000

Lesana Lesotho Limited - - 5 819 000 5 290 000

(59 898 543) (57 057 716) 12 419 000 11 290 000
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GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Consultancy fees
D&T Enterprises (Pty) Ltd (11 500 000) - (11 500 000) -

Computer expenses
Pivot Limited (2 618 948) (2 349 659) - -

Select Advisors (Pty) Limited (1 291 141) (1 029 648) - -

(3 910 089) (3 379 307) - -

Rental income
Lojaf Proprietary Limited 2 868 779 2 850 150 - -

Alliance Foods Proprietary Limited 515 462 517 422 - -

Afri Pack Proprietary Limited 903 489 1 088 834 - -

Ezabeni Property Holdings (Pty) Limited 172 905 - - -

4 460 635 4 456 406 - -

34.	Related parties (continued)

Interest income
African Alliance Advisory (Pty) Limited 8 904 666 9 736 824 8 904 666 9 736 824

African Alliance Eswatini Limited 18 452 7 812 570 - -

Moor Properties (Pty) Limited 7 762 783 25 368 426 - -

Manzini Arch (Pty) Limited 1 853 199 1 838 686 - -

Select Africa Limited 3 036 384 2 661 506 3 036 384 2 661 506

Select Africa Finance Limited 29 105 490 18 472 497 - -

Matsapha Link (Proprietary) Limited 1 837 685 1 567 557 1 275 000 1 072 579

Lojaf (Proprietary) Limited - 139 - -

Lesana Lesotho Limited - - - 57 823

Alliance Foods (Pty) Limited 20 196 - -

Afri Pack (Pty) Limited 38 005 33 182 - -

Ezabeni Property Holdings (Pty) Limited 125 330 57 896 - -

Select Advisors (Proprietary) Limited 15 245 963 11 791 879 - -

Afri Pack General SA (Pty) Limited 14 850 13 167 - -

Pine Acres (Proprietary) Limited - - 51 598 311 50 396 440

Vidastyle Botswana (Pty) Limited 513 5 607 - -

General Africa Foods (Pty) Limited 731 642 - -

Select Limited - - 4 738 595 -

67 944 071 79 360 774 69 552 956 63 925 172
Interest expense
African Alliance Eswatini Limited (19 720 872) (15 293 179) (2 290 963) (429 578)

African Alliance Eswatini Lilangeni Fund (49 859 382) (27 038 719) (19 439 494) (2 069 123)

African Alliance Eswatini Umnotfo Fund (18 236 937) (17 263 729) (5 733 670) (6 125 647)

African Alliance Ligcebesha Fund (714 452) - - -

African Alliance Managed Fund (1 428 904) - - -

African Alliance Portfolio Fund (2 143 356) - - -

Debswana Mining Rehabilitation Trust (3 300 523) - - -

African Alliance Botswana Liquidity Fund (5 755 291) - - -

Select Limited - - - (5 781 733)

(101 159 717) (59 595 627) (27 464 127) (14 406 081)

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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35. Financial instruments and risk management

Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial assets
GROUP 2024

Notes

Fair value 
through profit  

or loss Amortised cost Total

Amounts owing by related parties 10 - 654 974 034 654 974 034

Other financial assets 12 261 351 414 - 261 351 414

Loans and advances 13 - 1 415 214 614 1 415 214 614

Trade and other receivables 11 - 7 547 814 7 547 814

Cash and cash equivalents 18 - 127 028 326 127 028 326

261 351 414 2 204 764 788 2 466 116 202
The carrying amounts approximate the fair value.

GROUP 2023
Amounts owing by related parties 10 - 536 986 227 536 986 227

Other financial assets 12 261 351 414 - 261 351 414

Loans and advances 13 - 1 364 619 227 1 364 619 227

Trade and other receivables 11 - 35 781 448 35 781 448

Cash and cash equivalents 18 - 91 275 966 91 275 966

261 351 414 2 028 662 868 2 290 014 282
The carrying amounts approximate the fair value.

COMPANY 2024 Notes Amortised cost Total

Amounts owing by related parties 10 619 997 515 619 997 515

Trade and other receivables 11 16 994 16 994

Cash and cash equivalents 18 1 276 422 1 276 422

 621 290 931 621 290 931

COMPANY 2023
Amounts owing by related parties 10 576 783 529 576 783 529

Trade and other receivables 11 19 740 19 740

Cash and cash equivalents 18 382 805 382 805

 577 186 074 577 186 074

Categories of financial liabilities
GROUP 2024
Trade and other payables 23 3 941 286 3 941 286

Amounts owing to related parties 20 1 009 265 174 1 009 265 174

Other financial liabilities 21 1 666 148 150 1 666 148 150

 2 679 354 610 2 679 354 610

Guarantee provided in favour of a related party
During June 2024, SBC Limited (“the guarantor”) provided an irrevocable guarantee of E 47,000,000 in favor of Nedbank Limited (“the 
lender”) for a period of 24 months, maturing on June 2026. This guarantee is over a facility loan issued by the lender to Osmaza SA 
Properties Proprietary Limited (“the borrower”). Refer to note 36.

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023

Compensation to directors and other key management
Short-term employee benefits 299 025 243 000 - -
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Capital risk management

The board of directors monitors the return on capital which the Company defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ 
equity. The board of directors also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholder. The board seeks to maintain a balance between 
the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital 
position. The Company has invested in countries where the currency risk is high and the Group experiences capital depletion due to 
currency weakness in these countries. There were no changes to the company’s approach to capital management during the year.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial risk management 

Overview

The Group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 Credit risk;

•	 Liquidity risk; and

•	 Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

The Group’s and the Company’s overall risk management matrix focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well 
as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, loans and advances, amounts owing by related parties and trade debtors. 
The Company only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis 
by assessing the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk 
limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly 
monitored.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

34. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

COMPANY 2024 Amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables 23 3 462 3 462

Amounts owing to related parties 20 268 088 027 268 088 027

Other financial liabilities 21 521 343 654 521 343 654

 789 435 143 789 435 143

COMPANY 2023
Trade and other payables 23 22 358 22 358

Amounts owing to related parties 20 180 102 256 180 102 256

Other financial liabilities 21 538 880 411 538 880 411

 719 005 025 719 005 025

COMPANY 2023 Notes Amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables 23 27 494 112 27 494 112

Amounts owing to related parties 20 700 933 066 700 933 066

Other financial liabilities 21 1 739 695 722 1 739 695 722

 2 468 122 900 2 468 122 900

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
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GROUP 2024 2023

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost / fair 

value

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost / fair 

value

Amount owing by 
related parties

10 654 974 034 - 654 974 034 536 986 227 - 536 986 227

Loan and advances 13 1 458 051 046 (42 836 432) 1 415 214 614 1 402 860 524 (38 241 297) 1 364 619 227

Trade and other 
receivables

11 31 507 607 (12 341) 31 495 266 60 353 208 (87 954) 60 265 254

Loan to contractor 16 22 287 937 (9 950 542) 12 337 395 19 853 143 (8 422 495) 11 430 648

Cash and cash 
equivalents

18 127 028 326 - 127 028 326 91 275 966 - 91 275 966

2 293 848 950 (52 799 315) 2 241 049 635 2 111 329 068 (46 751 746) 2 064 577 322

COMPANY 2024 2023

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost / fair 

value

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost / fair 

value

Amount owing by 
related parties

10 619 997 515 - 619 997 515 576 783 529 - 576 783 529

Trade and other 
receivables

11 6 649 131 - 6 649 131 4 960 248 - 4 960 248

Cash and cash 
equivalents

18 1 276 422 - 1 276 422 382 805 - 382 805

627 923 068 - 627 923 068 582 126 582 - 582 126 582

The balances disclosed above represent the entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 

The table below analyses the ageing of the Group’s loan book.

GROUP 

Figures in Emalangeni

At 31 December 2024

Not past due/ 
Past due 

1 - 30 days
Past due 

31 - 90 days
Past due 

90 days and over Total

Loans and advances 1 382 241 496 39 338 520 36 471 030 1 458 051 046

Impairment (12 015 406) (9 796 526) (21 024 500) (42 836 432)

1 370 226 090 29 541 994 15 446 530 1 415 214 614

At 31 December 2023

Not past due/ 
Past due 

1 - 30 days
Past due 

31 - 90 days
Past due 

90 days and over Total

Loans and advances 1 344 452 332 26 722 294 31 685 898 1 402 860 524

Impairment (12 250 948) (7 730 969) (18 259 380) (38 241 297)

1 332 201 384 18 991 325 13 426 518 1 364 619 227

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
businesses, Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group and the Company 
manage liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.
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35. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

GROUP 2024
Less than 1 

year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years
Contractual 

amount
Carrying 
amount

Non-current liabilities
Amounts owing to related 
parties

20 - 219 942 808 81 787 479 - 301 730 287 243 519 956

Other financial liabilities 21 - 472 291 831 559 026 435 63 768 836 1 095 087 102 886 146 528

Lease liabilities - 685 778 1 371 556 - 2 057 334 1 810 460

Deferred income - - 17 256 560 - 17 256 560 17 256 560

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 3 941 286 - - - 3 941 286 3 941 286

Amounts owing to related 
parties

20 839 578 762 - - - 839 578 762 765 745 218

Other financial liabilities 21 884 814 027 - - - 884 814 027 780 001 622

Lease liabilities 1 858 750 - - - 1 858 750 1 554 702

Deferred income 5 752 187 - - - 5 752 187 5 752 187

1 735 945 012 692 920 417 659 442 030 63 768 836 3 152 076 295 2 705 728 519

COMPANY 2024
Less than 1 

year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years
Contractual 

amount
Carrying 
amount

Non-current liabilities
Amounts owing to related 
parties

20 - 2 600 000 25 200 000 - 27 800 000 20 000 000

Other financial liabilities 21 - 152 242 622 128 880 000 63 768 836 344 891 458 262 583 799

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 3 462 - - - 3 462 3 462

Amounts owing to related 
parties

20 270 178 890 - - - 270 178 890 248 088 027

Other financial liabilities 21 271 240 517 - - - 271 240 517 258 759 855

541 422 869 154 842 622 154 080 000 63 768 836 914 114 327 789 435 143

GROUP 2023
Less than 1 

year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years
Contractual 

amount
Carrying 
amount

Non-current liabilities
Amounts owing to related parties 20 - 316 074 742 83 394 809 399 469 551 288 296 093

Other financial liabilities 21 - 747 359 485 628 413 863 1 375 773 348 1 048 979 006

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 27 445 527 - - 27 445 527 27 494 112

Amounts owing to related parties 20 412 636 973 - - 412 636 973 412 636 973

Other financial liabilities 21 1 238 379 394 - - 1 238 379 394 690 716 716

Lease liabilities 1 778 413 - - 1 778 413 1 778 413

1 680 240 307 1 063 434 227 711 808 672 3 455 483 206 2 469 901 313

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining pe-
riod at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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GROUP Carrying amount
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023
Variable rate instruments:
Assets
Amounts owing by related parties 10 6 763 181 7 282 301
Cash and cash equivalents 18 127 023 353 91 266 810

133 786 534 98 549 111

Liabilities

Amounts owing to related parties 20 (2 805 638) (1 650 731)

Other financial liabilities 21 (68 367 562) (70 669 610)

(71 173 200) (72 320 341)
Net variable rate financial instruments 62 613 334 26 228 770

COMPANY Carrying amount
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023
Variable rate instruments:
Assets
Amounts owing to related parties 10 5 237 100 -
Cash and cash equivalents 18 1 276 422 382 805

6 513 522 382 805

Liabilities

Amounts owing to related parties 20 (15 956) (53 566)

Net variable rate financial instruments 6 497 566 329 239

Current liabilities:
Amounts owing to related parties (1 728 094) - - -

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to limited foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures. Foreign ex-
change risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities.

The Group and Company do not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

At 31 December 2024, the Eswatini Emalangeni and Lesotho Maloti were pegged to the South Africa Rand. The Group and Company are 
therefore not exposed to any foreign exchange risk in respect of South African Rand (ZAR) and Lesotho Maloti denominated loans and 
receivables.

Exposure in foreign currency amounts

The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure was as follows:

Pula

COMPANY 2023
Less than  

1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years
Contractual 

amount
Carrying 
amount

Non-current liabilities
Amounts owing to related parties 20 - 57 248 687 20 000 000 77 248 687 55 750 168

Other financial liabilities 21 - 275 094 815 384 906 244 660 001 059 275 259 438

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 22 358 - - 22 358 22 358

Amounts owing to related parties 20 124 352 088 - - 124 352 088 124 352 088

Other financial liabilities 21 362 023 980 - - 362 023 980 263 620 973

486 398 426 332 343 502 404 906 244 1 223 648 172 719 005 025

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni 2024 2023 2024 2023
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35. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis has been prepared using a sensitivity rate which is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to 
key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. All other 
variables remain constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk which were recog-
nised at the reporting date. No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis 
compared to the previous reporting period.

GROUP 2024 2024 2023 2023
Increase or decrease in rate Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Impact on profit or loss:
Variable rate instruments (100 bps) 626 133 (626 133) 262 288 (262 288)

Impact on equity:
Variable rate instruments (100 bps) 453 946 (453 946) 190 159 (190 159)

Total impact on profit or loss and equity 1 080 079 (1 080 079) 452 447 (452 447)

COMPANY 2024 2024 2023 2023
Increase or decrease in rate Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Impact on profit or loss:
Variable rate instruments (100 bps) 64 976 (64 976) 3 292 (3 292)

Impact on equity:
Variable rate instruments (100 bps) 47 108 (47 108) 2 387 (2 387)

Total impact on profit or loss and equity 112 084 (112 084) 5 679 (5 679)

36. Contingent liability

During June 2024, SBC Limited (“the guarantor”) provided an irrevocable guarantee of E 47 000 000 in favor of Nedbank Limited (“the 
lender”) for a period of 24 months, maturing on June 2026. This guarantee is over a facility loan issued by the lender to Osmaza SA Proper-
ties Proprietary Limited (“the borrower”). The borrower is considered a related party to SBC Limited due to common shareholder control.

This guarantee is classified as a potential obligation that may arise if the borrower defaults on the loan facility with the lender. Manage-
ment has however assessed this risk as low, after taking into account the borrowers historical financial position and ability to service its 
obligations.

37. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.
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38. Segmental information

The Group has identified year reportable segments which represent the structure used by the steering committee to make key operating 
decisions and assess performance.

The Group’s reportable segments are operating segments which are differentiated by the activities that each undertake, products they 
manufacture and markets they operate in.

Segmental analysis by geography
31 December 2024 Eswatini Lesotho Elimination Total

Group Advances to customers 815 246 435 642 804 611 - 1 458 051 046

Impairment Provisions (28 226 765) (14 609 667) - (42 836 432)

Net Advances 787 019 670 628 194 944 - 1 415 214 614

Total Segment Assets 2 624 246 985 643 534 632 (127 829 112) 3 139 952 505
Borrowings 2 450 969 619 352 272 817 (127 829 112) 2 675 413 324

Total Segment Liabilities 2 454 904 812 379 030 055 (127 829 112) 2 706 105 755

31 December 2023 Eswatini Lesotho Elimination Total

Group Advances to customers 778 023 405 624 837 119 - 1 402 860 524

Impairment Provisions (24 857 371) (13 383 926) - (38 241 297)

Net Advances 753 166 034 611 453 193 - 1 364 619 227

Total Segment Assets 2 428 767 061 640 734 807 (125 781 462) 2 943 720 406
Borrowings 2 176 176 272 390 233 978 (125 781 462) 2 440 628 788

Total Segment Liabilities 2 169 548 795 429 092 373 (125 781 462) 2 472 859 706

31 December 2024 Eswatini Lesotho Elimination Total

Revenue 252 036 467 190 763 561 - 442 800 028

Operating Profit 122 602 590 113 633 839 - 236 236 429

Profit before Taxation (54 468 684) 62 934 385 - 8 465 701

Taxation (2 185 647) (10 072 242) - 12 257 889

Profit for the year (56 654 331) 52 862 143 - 3 792 188

31 December 2023 Eswatini Lesotho Elimination Total

Revenue 245 322 091 188 632 820 - 433 954 911

Operating Profit 122 598 233 112 151 753 - 234 749 986

Profit before Taxation (8 068 759) 58 091 016 - 50 022 257

Taxation (5 568 511) (15 509 688) - (21 078 199)

Profit for the year (13 637 270) 42 581 328 - 28 944 058
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Segmental analysis by product
 Consumer  

lending  Property  Elimination Total

31 Dec 24 31 Dec 23 31 Dec 24 31 Dec 23 31 Dec 24 31 Dec 23 31 Dec 24 31 Dec 23

Group 
Advances to 
customers

1 458 051 046 1 402 860 524 - - - - 1 458 051 046 1 402 860 524

Impairment 
Provisions (42 836 432) (38 241 297) - - - - (42 836 432) (38 241 297)

Net Ad-
vances 1 415 214 614 1 364 619 227 - - - - 1 415 214 614 1 364 619 227

Total Seg-
ment Assets 3 182 336 346 2 944 900 009 424 285 190 402 592 366 (466 669 031) (403 771 969) 3 139 952 505 2 943 720 406

Borrowings 2 607 014 144 2 369 959 178 535 068 211 474 441 579 (466 669 031) (403 771 969) 2 675 413 324 2 440 628 788

Total 
Segment 
Liabilities

2 634 675 135 2 399 749 100 538 099 651 476 882 575 (466 669 031) (403 771 969) 2 706 105 755 2 472 859 706

Revenue 
from other 
sources

178 944 282 187 645 082 18 915 860 16 218 171 - - 197 860 142 203 863 253

Interest 
income on 
effective 
interest rate

244 939 886 230 091 008 - - - - 244 939 886 230 091 008

Income 423 884 168 417 736 090 18 915 860 16 218 171 - - 442 800 028 433 954 261

Operating 
Profit 228 481 940 230 283 514 7 754 489 4 466 472 - - 236 236 429 234 749 986

Profit/ (loss)
before Taxa-
tion

56 283 343 95 415 588 (47 817 642) (45 393 331) - - 8 465 701 50 022 257

Taxation (20 551 279) (33 104 132) 8 293 390 12 025 933 - - (12 257 889) (21 078 199)

Profit/ (loss) 
for the year 35 732 064 62 311 456 (39 524 252) (33 367 398) - - (3 792 188) 28 944 058

38. Segmental information (continued)

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Detailed Income Statement

GROUP COMPANY
Figures in Emalangeni Note 2024 2023 2024 2023
Income
Loan and book administration fees 178 819 008 187 645 083 - -
Rental income 18 810 083 16 218 821 - -
Management fees - - 12 419 000 11 290 000
Cost of guarantee recovered 231 051 - - -
Other income - - 21 436 -
Interest income on advances 244 939 886 230 091 007 - -

24 442 800 028 433 954 911 12 440 436 11 290 000
Other (expense)/income
Gains on disposal of assets 29 184 98 434 - -
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (1 686 677) 11 061 13 281 10 356

25 (1 657 493) 109 495 13 281 10 356
Movement in credit loss allowances 26 (6 119 368) (1 450 088) - -
Operating expenses
Administration and management fees (60 288 112) (57 387 961) (180 997) (195 972)
Advertising (4 661 252) (3 845 896) (59 607) (48 620)
Amortisation (2 607 939) (2 598 456) - -
Auditor's remuneration 26 (1 848 229) (1 524 193) (540 256) (371 070)
Bad debts (17 838 125) (15 636 184) - -
Bank charges (2 225 132) (1 919 103) (260 147) (211 280)
Commission paid (27 230 489) (26 437 630) (5 332 933) (4 865 130)
Computer expenses (5 121 692) (4 340 954) (3 220) -
Consultancy fees (12 831 006) (17 303 082) (11 601 523) (92 480)
Cash back incentive payments 45 958 (3 789 432) - -
Depreciation (4 107 321) (3 514 942) - -
Employee costs (30 272 327) (29 461 790) - -
Professional fees (1 660 956) (1 924 924) (78 335) (54 696)
Other expenses (1 178 716) (961 030) - -
Non refundable VAT (3 562 752) (3 410 813) - -
Fines and penalties - (218 895) - -
Gift and donation (492 224) (541 829) - -
Insurance (9 508 545) (11 699 842) (4 012) (5 546)
Leases of low value assets (866 674) (445 357) - -
Motor vehicle expenses (931 400) (946 426) - -
Utilities (1 141 591) (1 042 383) - -
Postage - (10 803) - -
Printing and stationery (187 441) (231 374) - -
Repairs and maintenance (2 363 926) (2 838 173) - -
Security (825 022) (795 738) - -
Staff welfare (93 809) (72 707) - -
Subscriptions (5 037 264) (2 676 758) (268 292) (273 586)
Telephone and fax (1 034 816) (1 058 753) - -
Training (210 200) (218 280) - -
Travel - local (361 967) (635 940) (2 389) -
Travel - overseas (343 769) (265 189) (20 355) (3 499)

(198 786 738) (197 754 837) (18 352 066) (6 121 879)
Operating profit/(loss) 26 236 236 429 234 859 481 (5 898 349) 5 178 477
Investment income 27 75 734 444 88 501 813 79 744 356 354 306 324
Finance costs 28 (303 505 172) (273 339 037) (87 897 739) (74 922 481)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 8 465 701 50 022 257 (14 051 732) 284 562 320
Taxation 29 (12 257 889) (21 078 199) 2 287 234 (1 288 183)
(Loss)/profit for the year (3 792 188) 28 944 058 (11 764 498) 283 274 137
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2024 2023

Prime Interest rates (as quoted by a reputable local bank)
Botswana 6.01 % 6.76 %

Lesotho 11.25 % 10.75 %

Mauritius 9.00 % 9.50 %

South African 11.25 % 11.75 %

Eswatini 10.50 % 11.00 %

Swazi Emalangeni equals:
Mauritian Rupee (MUR) 2.501 2.350

South African Rand (ZAR) 1.000 1.000

United States Dollar (USD) 0.053 0.053

Botswana Pula (BWP) 0.741 0.722

SBC Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annexure A Prime Interest Rates and Currencies
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